Evaluating health disparities in a pediatric population with type 1 diabetes in Quebec

Suzanne Simba

Department of Epidemiology, Biostatistics and Occupational Health McGill University, Montreal April 2022

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Master of Science in Epidemiology

© Suzanne Simba, 2022

Abstract

BACKGROUND: Few Canadian studies have examined the relationship between socioeconomic status (SES) and glycemic control while considering other equity measures such as ethnicity, immigration, and other factors that modify the relationship between SES and glycemic control.

OBJECTIVE: My main objective was to determine the association between SES and glycemic control (HbA1c) in children ages 0-18 years with type 1 diabetes (T1D) followed at the Montreal Children's Hospital (MCH). My secondary objectives were to 1) determine whether insulin pump use, processes of care (number of diabetes-related clinic visits), and depression were effect modifiers of this relationship and 2) to determine the association between ethnicity and/or immigration status with mean HbA1c.

METHODS: Retrospective cohort study using MCH's Pediatric Diabetes Database with data on children ages 0-18 years with T1D. A Diabetes Clinical Intake Form was used for demographic information such as ethnicity, immigration status, and depression. We included children diagnosed with T1D for at least a year with an index visit between November 1st, 2019 and October 31st, 2020. The main outcome was mean HbA1c in the year following the index visit. The main exposure was SES measured by the Material and Social Deprivation Index. SES was also measured by the Canadian Index of Multiple Deprivation (CIMD) which examines residential instability, situational vulnerability, economic dependency, and ethnocultural composition (a measure of ethnic density). SES was defined as Q1-Q2 (least deprived), Q3 (moderately deprived), and Q4-Q5 (most deprived). I used multivariable linear regression to determine the association between SES and mean HbA1c adjusting for age at index date, sex, diabetes duration, insulin pump use, and processes of care. Effect modification by insulin pump, processes of care (number of diabetes-related clinic visits in the past year), and depression was assessed with interaction terms in three separate regression models. We used multivariable linear regression analysis to determine the association between ethnicity, immigration and mean HbA1c adjusted for SES, age, sex, diabetes duration, insulin pump use, and processes of care. **RESULTS:** A total of 203 children were included in the main analysis. Mean age was 13.5 years; 53.2% males, and mean diabetes duration was 4.9 years. The sample consisted of 47.3%, 26.6%, and 26.1% in the least, moderately, and most deprived quintiles, respectively. Children in the most deprived quintiles had a higher mean HbA1c compared to those in the least and moderately deprived (p=.05). In the adjusted analysis, HbA1c in the most deprived quintiles was 0.5% higher compared to the least deprived (95% Confidence Interval (95% CI) 0.05-0.97). Effect modification by insulin pump, processes of care, and depression was not significant. The CIMD assigned quintiles for 208 children. The ethnocultural composition was associated with lower mean HbA1c in moderately and most diverse quintiles compared to least diverse quintiles $(\beta = -1.1, 95\% \text{ CI} - 1.9, -0.4, \beta = -0.8, 95\% \text{ CI} - 1.5, -0.2)$. In terms of ethnicity, the racialized compared to the non-racialized group had a higher mean HbA1c (β =0.7, 95% CI 0.2-1.2). **DISCUSSION:** Consistent with previous findings, lower SES was associated with higher HbA1c; effect modification by insulin pump, processes of care, and depression was not observed. We observed ethnic disparities in HbA1c levels, which is consistent with previous data from the UK and the U.S. Although the racialized compared to the non-racialized group was associated with higher HbA1c, the most diverse compared to the least diverse neighborhoodlevel ethnocultural composition was associated with lower mean HbA1c. This suggests that other health-promoting factors in areas of high ethnocultural composition may affect HbA1c, such as social cohesion and community support.

CONCLUSION: The associations between SES and glycemic control are important for further research to understand drivers that contribute to disparities in a Canadian context.

Résumé

CONTEXTE: Peu d'études canadiennes ont examiné la relation entre le statut socioéconomique (SSE) et le contrôle glycémique en considérant l'ethnicité, l'immigration et d'autres facteurs qui modifient la relation.

OBJECTIF: Objectif principal : déterminer la relation entre le SSE et le contrôle glycémique (HbA1c) des enfants de 0 à 18 ans atteints de diabète de type 1 (DT1) et suivis à l'Hôpital de Montréal pour enfants (HME). Objectifs secondaires : 1) déterminer la modification d'effet de la relation par la pompe à insuline, les processus de soins (nombre de visites à la clinique) et la dépression 2) déterminer l'association entre l'ethnicité ou l'immigration et l'HbA1c.

MÉTHODES: Étude rétrospective utilisant la base de données du diabète pédiatrique de L'HME. Un formulaire d'admission a permis la collecte d'information démographique (ethnicité, immigration, dépression). Les enfants de 0 à 18 ans atteints du DT1 depuis ≥1 an et ayant une visite entre le 1er novembre 2019 et le 31 octobre 2020 étaient inclus. Le résultat principal était l'HbA1c dans l'année suivant la visite d'index. L'exposition principale était le SSE mesuré par l'indice de défavorisation matérielle et sociale. Le SSE a aussi été mesuré par l'indice canadien de défavorisation multiple (ICDM) qui inclue l'instabilité résidentielle, la vulnérabilité situationnelle, la dépendance économique et la composition ethnoculturelle. Le SSE était défini comme Q1-Q2 (moins défavorisé), Q3 (modérément défavorisé) et Q4-Q5 (plus défavorisé). Une régression linéaire multiple a déterminé l'association entre le SSE et l'HbA1c en ajustant pour l'âge, le sexe, la durée du diabète, la pompe à l'insuline et les processus de soins. La modification d'effet par la pompe à insuline, les processus de soins et la dépression a été évaluée à l'aide de termes d'interaction dans 3 modèles distincts. Une régression linéaire multiple a déterminé l'Association entre le SSE, l'âge, le sexe, la durée du diabète, la pompe à l'HbA1c ajustant pour le SSE, l'âge, le sexe, la durée du diabète, la pompe à l'insuline et les processus de soins. La modification d'effet par la pompe à l'insuline et les processus de soins. La modification d'effet par la pompe à l'insuline et les processus de soins et la déterminé l'association entre le SSE, l'âge, le sexe, la durée du diabète, la pompe à l'insuline et les processus de soins.

RÉSULTATS: 203 enfants ont été inclus dans l'analyse principale. L'âge moyen était de 13.5 ans, 53.2% étaient males et la durée moyenne du diabète était de 4.9 ans. Le groupe comprenait 47.3%, 26.6% et 26.1% d'enfants dans les quintiles les moins, modérément et les plus défavorisés, respectivement. Les quintiles plus défavorisés avaient des valeurs d'HbA1c plus élevées que les quintiles les moins et modérément défavorisés (p=.05). Dans l'analyse ajustée, l'HbA1c des quintiles les plus défavorisés était 0.5% supérieur à celui des moins défavorisés (IC 95%, 0.05-0.97). La modification de l'effet par pompe à insuline, les processus de soins et la dépression n'était pas significative. L'ICDM a attribué des quintiles pour 208 enfants. La composition ethnoculturelle était associée à des valeurs d'HbA1c inférieurs dans les quintiles modérément et les plus diversifiés par rapport aux quintiles les moins diversifiés (β =-1.1, IC 95% -1.9,-0.4, β =-0.8, IC 95% -1.5,-0.2). Selon l'ethnicité, le groupe racialisé par rapport au groupe non racialisé avait des valeurs d'HbA1c plus élevée (β =0.7, IC 95% 0.2-1.2).

DISCUSSION: Comme les études courantes, un SSE inférieur était associé à un taux d'HbA1c plus élevé; la modification de l'effet par la pompe à insuline, les processus de soins et la dépression n'a pas été observée. Il existe des disparités ethniques dans l'HbA1c, ce qui est cohérent avec les données précédentes au Royaume-Uni et aux États-Unis. Bien que le groupe racialisé par rapport au groupe non racialisé présentait un HbA1c plus élevé, la composition ethnoculturelle la plus diversifiée était associée à un taux d'HbA1c plus bas. Ceci suggère que d'autres facteurs de santé dans les zones à haute densité ethnique peuvent affecter l'HbA1c, tels que la cohésion sociale et le soutien communautaire.

CONCLUSION: Les résultats de l'association entre le SSE et le contrôle glycémique sont importants pour mieux comprendre les facteurs qui contribuent aux disparités dans le contexte canadien.

Contributions

As first author, I, Suzanne Simba was responsible for elaborating the research questions, hypothesis, statistical analysis, data interpretation, and drafting the manuscript. My supervisors, Dr. Meranda Nakhla and Dr. Patricia Li provided guidance throughout the thesis and contributed significantly in the conceptualization of the methodology, formulation of research questions, study design, interpretation of findings, as well as revising and providing constructive feedback.

All chapters of this thesis were written by Suzanne Simba and critically reviewed and revised by Dr. Meranda Nakhla, Dr. Patricia Li, Dr. Elham Rahme, and Dr. Julia Von Oettingen.

Elise Mok a contribué à la révision de l'abrégé en français.

Acknowledgements

I would like take this opportunity to thank Dr. Meranda Nakhla (co-supervisor) and Dr. Patricia Li (co-supervisor) for their time, support, patience, and expertise while guiding me through this thesis. They both took the time to provide extremely useful and constructive feedback, which has caused me to grow and develop new skills as a researcher.

I would also like to express my gratitude towards Dr. Elham Rahme and Dr. Julia Von Oettingen for their time and advice as members of my thesis committee. I also thank Jennifer Frei for her time and expertise on navigating administrative data as well as Jennifer Ladd for her help and advice throughout the development of this project.

I would like to thank McGill University for creating an enriching learning environment and providing an atmosphere of growth and innovation.

Finally, I want to express my gratitude to my family for their support, encouragement, and prayers throughout this journey.

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	i
RÉSUMÉ	iii
CONTRIBUTIONS	.v
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	vi
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS /ACRONYMS	ix
LIST OF TABLES	.X
LIST OF FIGURES	cii
LIST OF APPENDICESx	iii
1 BACKGROUND	.1
 1.1 DESCRIPTIVE EPIDEMIOLOGY OF T1D 1.2 DIAGNOSIS 	
1.3 MANAGEMENT	
1.3.1 INSULIN TREATMENTS	
1.3.2 Access to Treatments	
1.3.3 BLOOD GLUCOSE MONITORING	
1.3.4 CHRONIC COMPLICATIONS	
1.3.5 DIABETES MANAGEMENT	
1.4 HEALTH OUTCOMES	
1.4.1 GLYCEMIC CONTROL	
1.4.2 ACUTE COMPLICATIONS: DIABETES-RELATED HOSPITALIZATIONS: DKA	
1.5 FACTORS THAT AFFECT DIABETES MANAGEMENT	
1.5.1 SES AND PROCESSES OF CARE	.7
1.5.2 PSYCHOSOCIAL/PSYCHOLOGICAL FACTORS AND HBA1C	
2 LITERATURE REVIEW	. 9
2.1 SES AND DIABETES OUTCOMES	
2.2 R ACE, ETHNICITY, AND DIABETES OUTCOMES	14
3 RATIONALE AND RESEARCH OBJECTIVES	18

4 HEALTH DISPARITIES IN CHILDREN WITH TYPE 1 DIABETES	23
4.1 ABSTRACT	
4.2 INTRODUCTION	24
4.3 Methodology	25
4.3.1 Study design	25
4.3.2 POPULATION AND SETTING	25
4.3.3 DATA COLLECTION	25
4.3.4 VARIABLES	26
4.3.5 Statistical Analysis	30
4.3.6 SUBGROUP ANALYSIS	31
4.4 R esults	32
4.5 DISCUSSION	45
4.6 CONCLUSION	51
5 DISCUSSION	51
	JI
	- 4
6 REFERENCES	54
7 APPENDICES	63

List of Abbreviations /Acronyms

Abbreviation	Meaning
ADA	American Diabetes Association
BGM	Blood glucose monitoring
CGM	Continuous glucose monitoring
CI	Confidence interval
CIMD	Canadian Index of Multiple Deprivation
CSII	Continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion
DKA	Diabetic ketoacidosis
HbA1c	Glycated hemoglobin
INSPQ	Institut National de Santé Publique du Québec
ISPAD	International Society for Pediatric and Adolescent Diabetes
МСН	Montreal Children's Hospital
MDI	Multiple daily injections
MSDI	Material and Social Deprivation Index
OR	Odds ratio
PCCF	Postal Code Conversion File
PHQ-2	Patient Health Questionnaire
SD	Standard deviation
SDOH	Social determinants of health
SES	Socioeconomic status
T1D	Type 1 diabetes
T2D	Type 2 diabetes

List of tables

Chapter 4

Table 1: The four dimensions of multiple deprivation and their corresponding indicators for
Quebec in the CIMD, 201627
Table 2: Population characteristics across MSDI quintiles
Table 3: SES difference in mean HbA1c by pump status (yes/no)
Table 4: SES differences in mean HbA1c by number of diabetes-related physician visits in the
prior year
Table 5: Patient characteristics of the ethnicity subgroup35
Table 6: Mean HbA1c for racialized vs non racialized groups
Table 7: Mean HbA1c by immigration status
Table 8: Mean HbA1c of patients by depression screen results
Table 9: Multivariable linear regression analysis for the association between SES and HbA1c,
adjusted for sex, age, duration of diabetes, processes of care, and pump use
Table 10: Multivariable linear regression SES and HbA1c – interaction term between SES and
insulin pump
Table 11. Multivariable linear regression SES and HbA1c – interaction term between SES and
processes of care
Table 12. Multivariable linear regression analysis for the association between SES and HbA1c,
adjusted for sex, age, duration of diabetes, processes of care, pump use, and depression40
Table 13. Multivariable linear regression SES and HbA1c – interaction term between SES and
depression40
Table 14. Multivariable linear regression of ethnicity and HbA1c, adjusted for sex, age, duration
of diabetes, and SES41
Table 15. Multivariable linear regression analysis examining association of immigration status
with HbA1c42
Table 16. Patient characteristics: residential instability dimension
Table 17. Patient characteristics: situational vulnerability
Table 18. Patient characteristics: economic dependency44
Table 19. Patient characteristics: ethnocultural composition

List of Figures

Chapter 3	
Figure 1: Association between SES and mean HbA1c2	21
Figure 2: Effect modification of insulin pump use, processes of care and depression on the	
association of SES with mean HbA1c2	,1
Figure 3: Association of ethnicity/immigration and mean HbA1c2	22

List of Appendices

Appendix 1: Main population characteristics

- Appendix 2: Selection of subgroups
- Appendix 3: Sensitivity analysis

1 BACKGROUND

1.1 Descriptive epidemiology of T1D

Type 1 diabetes (T1D) is one of the most common chronic diseases of childhood accounting for over 85% of all diabetes cases in youth under 20 years old worldwide.^{1,2} T1D results from an autoimmune disorder leading to the destruction of pancreatic beta-cells and the subsequent lack of insulin.^{1,3} The worldwide incidence and prevalence of T1D vary largely. The highest incidences of T1D reported by the most recent International Diabetes Federation Atlas (10th edition) was in Europe including Sardinia, Finland, Sweden, Norway, Portugal, United Kingdom (UK) with over 20 cases per 100,000 per year^{2,4} as well as Middle Eastern and Northern African countries including Saudi Arabia, Algeria, Qatar and Kuwait, with an agestandardized incidence of over 30 cases per 100 000 per year in children ages 0-14 years.⁵ Higher incidences are also reported in Pacific countries including Australia and New Zealand with rates between 10 and 30 cases per 100 000 per year.⁵ Lower rates are reported in Asian countries such as China, Singapore, and Japan with rates less than 10 cases per 100 000 per year and in Central and South America, with an age-adjusted incidence of less than 20 cases per 100,000 per year in children ages <14 years.⁵ In North America, the incidence reported in the United States (U.S.) was between 20 to 30 cases per 100,000 per year and more than 30 cases per 100 000 per year in Canada since 2015.⁵

Studies have demonstrated that factors such as age and ethnicity are associated with the incidence of T1D.² The World Health Organization Multinational Project for Childhood Diabetes (DIAMOND) project reported that in Europe between 1990 to 1999, the highest and the most substantial increase in the incidence of T1D was in children younger than 5 years.⁶ Although autoimmune disorders often affect females more than males, sex differences in T1D incidence are not seen, and as demonstrated in the SEARCH for Diabetes in Youth (SEARCH) study⁴ from the U.S., similar increases in T1D incidence were seen in males and females between 2001 to 2009.⁷

Ethnic differences in both incidence and prevalence of T1D have been observed.⁸ In the SEARCH study, from 2001 to 2009, non-Hispanic White youth had the highest prevalence of T1D, with a prevalence of 2.55 per 1000 in 2009, followed by Black (1.62 per 1000) and

Hispanic youth (1.29 per 1000), and the lowest prevalence was found in American Indian Youth (0.35 per 1000).⁸ Reports from the same database also revealed that the incidence rates of T1D in the non-Hispanic White population are among the highest in the world in youth <20 years. Specifically, the prevalence was 2.0 per 1000, and the incidence 23.6 per 100,000.²

Compared to other geographical regions, Canada is ranked 8th for T1D incidence.⁹ Results from a sample of Canadian children and youth in British Columbia showed that the incidence rate from 2002 to 2003 was 23.3 cases per 100,000 population, and 27.3 cases per 100,000 population from 2012 to 2013, which represents an increase of 1.7% between the two periods.¹⁰ Incidence was highest in the 5–9-year-old and 10–14-year-old age group, and a significant increase was only seen in the 10–14-year-old group. In Montreal, Quebec, the relative annual T1D incidence increased by 5.4% between 2002 to 2010 among children aged 1 to 15 years.¹¹ T1D incidence was highest in children aged 5 to 11 years.

1.2 Diagnosis

Symptoms of T1D include increased thirst and urination (polydipsia and polyuria), bedwetting (enuresis), weight loss, behavioural disturbance and blurred vision.⁴ In severe cases when symptoms are not detected or there is a delay in diagnosis of T1D, youth present with diabetic ketoacidosis (DKA), an avoidable but potentially life-threatening complication. Between 13-80% of children worldwide are hospitalized for DKA at the time of diagnosis.¹² DKA at diagnosis is more common in younger children (<2 years) as a consequence of delayed treatment or a diagnostic error and is most common in ethnic minorities and those who have limited access to medical care.¹³ Results from the SEARCH study showed that the prevalence of DKA at diagnosis has been increasing from 35.3% in 2010 to 40.6% in 2016 in the U.S.¹⁴ Similarly, a population-based cohort study in children living in Quebec found that 25.6% of children presented with DKA at diagnosis during a study period from 2001 to 2014, with a relative increase of 2.0% per year (rate ratio 1.02; 95% Confidence Interval (95% CI) 1.01, 1.03).¹⁵ However, multicenter data of children and adolescents from Germany and Austria between 1995 and 2009 demonstrated that although rates of severe hypoglycemia and hypoglycemic coma significantly decreased over the period, rates of hospitalized DKA remained stable, with an adjusted rate ratio per year of 1.02 (95% CI 0.99, 1.06).¹⁶

Furthermore, recent studies in Australia and the U.S. have reported sociodemographic differences in DKA rates, where factors such as insurance status, census poverty rate and deprivation level were associated with DKA episodes.^{17,18}

1.3 Management

1.3.1 Insulin Treatments

To prevent the chronic complications of T1D (e.g., nephropathy, retinopathy), optimal glycemic control, as measured by hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) is needed.¹⁹ This is best achieved by an intensive insulin regimen meant to provide basal and bolus insulin, thus mimicking normal physiological patterns.²⁰ The administration of basal insulin controls blood glucose levels while fasting or between meals, while bolus insulin is given to control blood glucose levels with food intake. The basal-bolus approach is done by either multiple daily injections (MDI) or by continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion (CSII; insulin pumps).

MDI provides long-acting insulin for basal insulin and rapid-acting insulin before meals, which requires multiple injections throughout the day, adjusted to match carbohydrate intake in each meal.¹ Over the past decade, the use of insulin pumps has been on the rise as an alternative to MDI.²¹ With insulin pump therapy, a portable pump continually administers rapid-acting insulin at a slow rate throughout the day through a catheter inserted in subcutaneous tissue and infuses additional bolus doses programmed by the patient before meals or to correct hyperglycemia.²²

Studies in children comparing MDI to insulin pump therapy have not consistently found differences in HbA1c in all ages. A multicentre randomized controlled trial from over a decade ago involving children and adolescents followed from onset of T1D to 24 months after diagnosis reported that there was no significant difference in glycemic control between the MDI and insulin pump treatments although treatment satisfaction was higher among insulin pump users,²³ similarly to a qualitative study, where parents have reported more flexibility and less stress related to child care with insulin pump use.²⁴ However, a recent study using registry data suggest that insulin pumps have been effective in preventing recurrent DKA, improving glycemic control, and preventing severe hypoglycemia in preschool children compared to MDI.²⁵

As insulin pumps shift towards becoming a preferred treatment of T1D, some sociodemographic differences are associated with the use of insulin pumps such as older age,

female gender, ethnicity, and socioeconomic status (SES).²⁶ In the SEARCH study, results showed that insulin pumps were more likely to be used by children in the non-Hispanic White ethnic group, and families with higher income and education.²⁶ Similarly, national data from The Virtual Diabetes Register in New Zealand between September 1, 2012, and December 31, 2018, showed that individuals of all ages living with T1D of non-European ethnicity and low SES were underrepresented among insulin pump users between 2012 and 2018, since the introduction of partial public-funding in September 2012.²⁷

1.3.2 Access to Treatments

Despite the known benefits of insulin pumps, the high cost of this technology (~\$8000-10,000 CAD) and its associated supplies (~\$4000 CAD per year) is a barrier to accessing pumps for many Canadians living with T1D.²⁸ As a result, provinces across Canada implemented financial programs to cover the costs of insulin pumps and partial to complete financial coverage for associated supplies. For example, since 2006 the Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-term Care in collaboration with the Assistive Devices Program provides financial coverage for insulin pumps to those without private insurance; however, the program only provides partial coverage for supplies, the cost of which may still be prohibitive for families living with T1D.²⁹ In Quebec, the insulin pump access program was launched in 2011 and offers complete financial coverage for both insulin pumps and supplies.³⁰ Nevertheless, studies have reported SES disparities in pump uptake in jurisdictions that provide universal funding. For example, Shulman et al. reported that pump users were more likely to be of higher SES in a cohort of 7076 children from Ontario, Canada.²⁹ Among pump users (n=3700), 29.6% were in the highest income quintile status compared to 19.1% among non-pump users (n=3376; p<0.05). The observational population-based study used survey data from pediatric diabetes centers and administrative databases. Because the study lacked clinical data from medical charts, pump use was determined based on applications for pump funding at each pediatric centre, which may have misclassified pump use (e.g. those who discontinued).²⁹

1.3.3 Blood glucose monitoring

Continuous glucose monitoring (CGM) systems may be used with MDI or insulin pumps to monitor blood glucose levels in real-time. CGM are wearable devices that track blood glucose levels every few minutes, throughout the day and night. A CGM has a small disposable sensor with a small subcutaneous catheter worn under the skin that tests blood glucose levels every few minutes. Two types of CGM systems exist where glucose information is either sent continuously to a remote receiver or smart phone or requires a direct scan by a reader or smart phone (i.e., flash glucose monitoring systems). CGM use has been associated with better glycemic control, lower rates of DKA and lower rates of severe hypoglycemia in pediatric patients included in the T1D Exchange Clinic Registry in the U.S.³¹ However, children with private insurance and non-Hispanic White children were more likely to use CGM compared to those with public insurance and those who are non-Hispanic Black or Hispanic.³¹ Moreover, studies of children and adults with T1D have highlighted existing SES disparities in CGM.³² For example, in a retrospective cohort study of children and adults with T1D, higher SES and private insurance were significantly associated with CGM use, which was associated with fewer diabetes adverse outcomes.³³

1.3.4 Chronic complications

Optimal glycemic control is essential to prevent the onset and progression of microvascular and macrovascular complications.¹⁹ Microvascular complications include eye disease (retinopathy), nerve damage (neuropathy), and kidney disease (nephropathy) while macrovascular complications include cardiovascular complications.² Optimal glycemic control with intensive insulin treatment, such as MDI or insulin pump therapy reduces the risks of these complications. ³⁴Although these complications are rare in children and adolescents, chronic complications due to T1D are an important cause of morbidity and mortality in adults with T1D due to longstanding sub-optimal glycemic control that frequently starts in childhood and adolescence.³⁵

1.3.5 Diabetes management

The 2018 Diabetes Canada Clinical Practice Guidelines outline evidence-based recommendations for the prevention and management of diabetes in Canada. This includes guidance for education, glycemic targets, and treatment plans that are specific to children and adapted to a Canadian health care context.³⁶ The guidelines specify that patients should receive diabetes education and management in an outpatient setting.³⁶ Optimal adherence to guidelines has been defined as at least 3 diabetes-related physician visits/year, at least 3 HbA1c tests/year, 1

glucagon prescription dispensed/year, and appropriate screening for diabetes-related comorbidity and complications such as eye, kidney, and thyroid disease.³⁷ This definition was developed based on the 2008 Canadian Diabetes Association Clinical Practice Guidelines, the American Diabetes Association (ADA) Standards of Care in Diabetes, and the 2009 International Society for Pediatric and Adolescent Diabetes (ISPAD) Clinical Practice Consensus Guidelines, followed by a survey of pediatric endocrinologists across Canada consisting of an informal consultative process.³⁷ Additionally, access to an experienced pediatric diabetes health care team is recommended to children and families to be provided with the necessary skills, knowledge, and specialized care to manage the disease.³⁸ Diabetes care teams include a pediatric endocrinologist and diabetes educators; including nurses, dietitians, psychologists, and social workers who offer education and counselling to patients and families.³⁹ Access to a health care team and the amount of time spent with diabetes care professionals (i.e., the total amount of time spent in face-to-face interactions during clinic) was found to be significantly correlated with HbA1c in children living with T1D (R=0.269; p<0.0001).³⁹ As this was a cross-sectional study, it is unclear whether time spent with professionals was a predictor or a result of HbA1c levels.

1.4 Health outcomes

1.4.1 Glycemic control

Glycemic control as measured by HbA1c reflects blood glucose levels for 3 to 4 months.³⁸ HbA1c measurements are often used for decision-making about medical regimens and are useful to assess the risk of long-term complications.

Glycemic targets are set for children with T1D to reduce the onset and progression of diabetes-related complications.³⁴ These targets are met through adherence to insulin regimens and glucose monitoring.³⁶ Treatment goals are determined by considering individual factors and guidelines and are set to ensure overall targets are met: children and adolescents under 18 years should aim for A1c \leq 7.5% as per the Diabetes Canada guidelines.³⁶ The guidelines also state that HbA1c targets should be individualized and set in consideration of access to technology, history of compliance to therapy, and history of hypo- or hyperglycemia unawareness.³⁸

1.4.2 Acute complications: Diabetes-related Hospitalizations: DKA

DKA is a life-threatening complication caused by an insulin deficiency and characterized by hyperglycemia, ketosis and acidosis.⁴⁰ This complication most often occurs at diabetes onset in children; however, the rate of DKA occurring in those with established diabetes has increased in the past decade,⁴⁰ with a DKA risk of 1-10% per patient per year in Europe.^{41,13} In those with established T1D, the risk of DKA is increased in individuals with sub-optimal glycemic control and a history of previous DKA episodes.⁴¹ Other situations that may lead to DKA include insulin pump delivery failure, insufficient insulin administration at times of increased insulin requirements such as intercurrent illness, or limited access to medical services, resulting in poor overall health outcomes.^{18,13} High mean hospital admission rates related to DKA pose an economic burden for hospitals and families.⁴⁰ It is the leading cause of death in T1D children under 15 years, and the mortality risk from DKA increases with children who have sub-optimal glycemic control.^{13,42} Mortality rates from DKA have decreased in the past decade. For example, between 1968 and 2009, DKA-related mortality in youth <19 years old decreased by 61% from 2.69 per million to 1.05 per million.⁴³ Potential reasons for the decrease in mortality rates include improved diabetes care and treatment, better awareness of symptoms, and advances in education concerning diabetes management.¹³

1.5 Factors that affect diabetes management

Adequate diabetes management depends on several factors mentioned, such as intensive insulin regimens, access to a diabetes care team, and appropriate screening for comorbidities. Moreover, several studies have identified that SES, demographic, and psychosocial factors affect diabetes management.^{32,44,45}

1.5.1 SES and Processes of Care

Studies have demonstrated the role of adherence to medical appointments and access to care on HbA1c and risk of DKA.^{44,46} One study examined the association between missed medical appointments and disease control, described as HbA1c at each follow-up visit and DKA

episodes during the 3.6 year study period, in children aged 0 to 18 years with T1D.⁴⁶ The study reviewed medical records of children receiving outpatient care for T1D at the Children's Hospital of Chicago. Results showed that patients with one missed appointment had more than twice the odds of having a DKA episode during the study period (Odds Ratio (OR) 2.50, 95% CI 1.32, 4.72), and almost twice the odds of having a mean HbA1c \geq 8.5% (OR: 1.91, 95% CI 1.29, 2.80) compared to patients with no missed appointments. Patients with two or more missed appointments per year had three times the odds of having a DKA episode during the study period (OR: 3.20, 95% CI 1.70, 6.02), and three times the odds of having a mean HbA1c \geq 8.5% during the study period (OR: 3.31, 95% CI 1.93, 5.67), compared to patients with no missed appointments.⁴⁶ Furthermore, the authors reported that ethnic minorities and children of low SES were overrepresented among those who are more likely to miss appointments. Among those who missed two or more appointments, Hispanic children represented 37.5% of the group and children with public insurance represented 64.8% of the group, whereas among those who missed no appointments per year, 16.0% were Hispanic and 22.7% had public insurance.⁴⁶

Hershey et al. also reported that in children with T1D who are from low SES and racial and ethnic minority communities with poor glycemic control, the presence of at least one adverse social determinant of health and food insecurity was associated with having missed at least one appointment.⁴⁷ This may not be observed in every health care context. For example, a Canadian study by Zuijdwijk et al. of children with T1D found that the frequency of diabetes-clinic visits did not differ by deprivation quintile; patients from all quintiles had a median of 3 diabetes clinic visits per patient per year.⁴⁸ The authors hypothesized that this may have been due to the fact their clinic was easily accessible by public transport from urban and suburban areas.⁴⁸

Clinical networks have been developed to foster continuity of care and equitable access to specialized diabetes services and mitigate the SES disparities in outcomes observed. For instance, after the implementation of the Network of Ontario Pediatric Diabetes Programs in 2001, there was a decreased trend in emergency department visits and hospital admissions which was seen across socioeconomic quintiles, as well as a decreased disparity in emergency visits and hospital admissions between children of the highest and lowest socioeconomic quintiles.⁴⁹ Nonetheless, although smaller, the association between lower SES and increased risk of emergency department visits and hospital admissions persisted.⁴⁹

1.5.2 Psychosocial/Psychological factors and HbA1C

Psychosocial factors may also affect glycemic control through self-care behaviour. These include general and diabetes-specific stress, inadequate social support, poor coping skills, and stigma.^{50,51} Psychological conditions such as depression, anxiety, and eating disorders have also been associated with worse glycemic control and lower adherence in adolescents living with T1D.^{52,53} In a prospective observational study of 150 adolescents aged 13-18 years, a 14-point increase in anxiety scores, as measured by the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory for Children, was associated with a 1% increase in HbA1c (p<0.05) over a 12-month period.⁵² Furthermore, the frequency of blood glucose monitoring over a 12-month period, an indication of adherence to the diabetes regimen, was reduced with increasing depression scores, as measured by the Children's Depression Inventory (β = -0.05, p<0.05). In a retrospective cohort study of adolescents aged 11-25 years with T1D, Bernstein et al. found that patients who had at least 1 positive mental health screen, defined as either depression, anxiety or disordered eating, had higher odds of having an HbA1c \ge 8.5% (OR: 2.16, 95% CI 1.01, 4.65) compared to those who did not screen positive⁵³, suggesting that psychiatric comorbidities are an important consideration in the research and clinical setting, as children and adolescents living with T1D are at higher risk for psychological problems especially during mid-adolescence.⁵⁴ However, interpretation of the observations is limited given the cross-sectional design of this study, and further examination is needed to determine whether mental health issues lead to higher HbA1c levels.

Also, in a retrospective cohort study conducted in Quebec, Canada, using linked health administrative databases of adolescents (aged 15 years) with and without diabetes and followed to age 25 years, individuals with diabetes were more likely to suffer from a mood disorder (adjusted hazard ratio 1.33, 95% CI 1.19, 1.50), attempt suicide (3.25, 95% CI 1.79, 5.88), visit a psychiatrist (1.82, 95% CI 1.67, 1.98), and experience any type of psychiatric disorder (1.29, 95% CI 1.21, 1.37]) compared with their peers without diabetes.⁵⁴

2 LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 SES and diabetes outcomes

Studies in Europe and North America have highlighted inequalities in diabetes control, management, technology uptake and outcomes in various contexts with differing measures of SES such as insurance status, deprivation indices, and median household income.^{55,56}

A retrospective multicenter population-based study using the SEARCH data examined the association between sociodemographic factors with glycemic control according to differing insulin regimens (i.e., insulin pumps, injections).⁵⁶ The cohort included children aged 10-17 years with incident T1D in 2001-2006 and 2008 who had a diabetes duration of at least 5 years. Public or private health insurance was included as a sociodemographic factor and glycemic control (i.e., HbA1c) was classified as either poor ($\geq 9.5\%$), intermediate (7.5 to <9.5%), or good (<7.5%). A multivariate logistic model demonstrated that amongst those on insulin pump therapy, children with public insurance had twice the odds of having poor glycemic control compared to children with private insurance (OR 2.6, 95% CI 1.19, 3.38). This was adjusted for diabetes duration, ethnicity, sex, and age. The model was also adjusted for adherence which was evaluated by assessing diabetes-related family conflict (Diabetes Family Conflict Scale), hypoglycemia fear (Hypoglycemia Fear Survey), eating problems (Diabetes Eating Problem Survey), and frequency of blood glucose monitoring, as well as self-reported barriers-to-care. The latter included access barrier factors (e.g., lack of regular provider, cost of care) and process barrier factors (e.g., problems with receiving care and problems with not spending enough time with the provider). The study found that despite being on an insulin pump, lower SES was associated with poor glycemic control compared to those of higher SES.⁵⁶ Although subjective processes of care were described, an objective measure of processes of care such as the number of follow-up visits recorded in the past year was not evaluated.

A U.S. study by Majidi et al. found slightly different results in a cross-sectional analysis of children aged 12 to 19 years with T1D for at least 5 years, who presented for two study visits between 2008 and 2010.⁵⁷ Insurance status and parental education level were included as SES measures. Consistent with the SEARCH study described above, children with private insurance were more likely to have lower levels of HbA1c (p<0.05); however, this association was not statistically significant after controlling for insulin regimen (p=0.1). The authors suggested that public insurance coverage of insulin pump therapy in the institution where this study was

conducted led to better access to insulin pump therapy for individuals of low SES status and mitigated SES disparities.⁵⁷ Similarly to the SEARCH study, the present research did not investigate other factors that affect diabetes outcomes such as the frequency of clinic visits and routine care. Accounting for the frequency of clinic visits across insurance status may demonstrate underlying factors of disparities in glycemic control in children with T1D. Furthermore, the cross-sectional design of the study prevents it from capturing the full effect of factors contributing to glycemic control such as the use of insulin pumps overtime across insurance groups.

A study by Thompson et al. found similar results in a study focused on deprivation and its impact on insulin regimen and glycemic control in a cohort of children (aged < 19 years) with T1D living in London (UK).³² Children who attended the institution's diabetes service in 2010 were included. HbA1c was measured at each quarterly visit and was averaged for the year. Deprivation score was determined from the postal code and included a measure of estimated household income, local environment, and household attainments. Access to care was conceptualized as the uptake of different insulin treatment modalities such as twice-daily injections, multiple daily injections, and insulin pump therapy. In a multiple linear regression analysis, only the mode of insulin therapy and ethnicity were associated with HbA1c. A subanalysis was conducted within the White British group which had a sample size of 268. In the White British group, those on the twice-daily insulin therapy had a higher deprivation score, compared to those on multiple daily injections and those on insulin pump therapy (p<000.1). A one-way ANOVA comparison of the three insulin regimen groups revealed that those on insulin pump therapy had the lowest levels of HbA1c and those in the twice-daily group had the highest levels (F=5.18, P=0.002). Regression analysis also revealed that treatment regimen and ethnicity were the only significant variables associated with HbA1c; deprivation was not significant.³²

Similarly, Apperley et al. focused on socioeconomic deprivation and trends of HbA1c in the UK in a retrospective cohort study of hospital admissions between 2007 and 2012.⁵⁸ Overall deprivation scores were measured by focusing on separate domains including income, employment, health and disability, education skills and training, barriers to housing and services, crime, and living environment. Analysis by Spearman's rank correlation found that poor

11

glycemic control was more likely in children living in the most deprived areas of the UK. Specifically, lower household levels of education and unemployment were significantly associated with poor glycemic control (r=0.22, p=0.02 (education); r=0.19, p=0.04 (unemployment)). The proportion of children using an insulin pump was only reported for 2011 (7%), 2012 (16%), and 2013 (33%); however, access to technology was not considered in the analysis of socioeconomic deprivation and glycemic control.

Research done by Delagrange et al. found differences in glycemic control by individual and area-level deprivation in France.⁵⁹ The multi-center cross-sectional study utilized the Evaluation of the Deprivation and Inequalities of Health in Healthcare Centers (EPICES), a validated deprivation index in France which measures individual deprivation based on employment, income, education level, socio-professional category, family composition, social connections, financial difficulties, life events, and perceived health. Area-level deprivation was measured by the European Deprivation Index (EDI). The sample included children who were diagnosed with T1D for at least a year and who attended hospital consultations from November 2017 to May 2018, in one of the seven pediatric health care centers in Occitanie, France. The main outcome was HbA1c and poor glycemic control was defined as HbA1c >8.5%. Linear regression models showed that poor glycemic control was associated with greater individual and area deprivation. Being in the most deprived EDI quintile was associated with a higher mean HbA1c ($\beta = 0.22, 95\%$ CI 0.04, 0.40, P=0.017) in a fully adjusted model, including EPICES scores. An EPICES score greater than 30, indicating individual deprivation, was also associated with a higher mean HbA1c ($\beta = 0.39, 95\%$ CI 0.27, 0.52, P<0.001).⁵⁹ Descriptive analyses showed that the distribution of patients using an insulin pump was similar across individual and/or area deprivation levels. In addition, the authors described that patients with the highest individual deprivation score had a greater number of DKA events during the study period, compared to the least deprived group (P = 0.031).⁵⁹

A Canadian study by Deladoëy et al. investigated the impact of median household income, as a measure for SES, on HbA1c in a pediatric population in Montreal.⁶⁰ The study population included children (aged <17 years) who were diagnosed with T1D at the study institution between 1980 and 2011. SES was measured by annual median household income by

neighbourhood-level data from the 2006 Canadian Census. The main outcome was mean HbA1c. A linear regression model showed a negative linear association with each \$15 000 increase in income and metabolic control (β =-0.1, P<0.001, r=-0.2). This model controlled for sex, age at diagnosis, duration of diabetes, ethnicity, frequency of visits, and time period (before vs. after February 2003). For the latter variable, HbA1c was measured with an immunological method before February 2003 and was measured with a high-performance liquid chromatography method after 2003. The difference in mean HbA1c between the highest and lowest median income was more than 1%, with a mean HbA1c of 7.20% (95% CI 6.75, 7.65%) in the highest, and 8.55% (95% CI 8.45, 8.65%) in the lowest. After adjusting the model to remove outliers (10 richest and 10 poorest households) this association remained significant (P<0.001). Although the study provided evidence for the effect of SES on diabetes outcomes in the context of universal financial coverage of health care, it only used one dimension of deprivation, median household income, without capturing other relevant dimensions of deprivation such as ethnicity.⁶⁰ Also, other important factors that may influence the impact of income, such as the use of insulin pumps or access to care were not considered in the study.

Another Canadian study examining social determinants of health and HbA1c found significant associations between deprivation index scores and HbA1c in patients with T1D followed at the Hospital for Sick Children in Toronto, Ontario from 2010 to 2011.⁴⁸ Social determinants of health were measured using the Material and Social Deprivation Index (MSDI) from the *Institut national de santé Publique du Quebec* (INSPQ), as well as the Ontario Marginalization Index (ON-Marg) which determines ethnic concentration. The main outcome was mean HbA1c during the study period. The effects of the number of diabetes clinic visits per year, age, sex, and pump status on the associations were also assessed. Two-sample t-tests were used to compare the difference in HbA1c levels between the least and most deprived quintiles. Results showed higher HbA1c levels in patients with the greatest degree of deprivation on the Material DI (HbA1c difference 0.9, P<0.0001), the Social DI (0.7, P<0.0001), and the Ethnic Concentration Index (0.5, P=0.04), when adjusting for age and sex, compared to those who are least deprived. Stratification of patients according to insulin pump use showed significantly higher HbA1c levels in patients degree of deprivation on the Material DI (P<0.0001) and the Social DI (P=0.003), compared to those who are least deprived among those

not using an insulin pump. On the contrary, no significant difference in HbA1c was found between the least and most deprived groups among patients using an insulin pump, suggesting that insulin pump status had a modifying effect on the association. Furthermore, multivariate linear regression showed that variables that were significantly associated with higher HbA1c included being in the most deprived quintile ($\beta = 1.77$, P<.0001), off insulin pump (B=0.69, P<0.0001), age ($\beta = 0.03$, P=0.01), and female ($\beta = 0.26$, P=0.01). In addition, the number of diabetes-clinic visits did not differ by deprivation quintile; therefore the authors concluded that patients in this study population had equal access to health care, as measured by diabetes clinic visits, and that differences in glycemic control may be due to mediating factors that were not measured, such as access to additional diabetes care outside of clinic time, differences in literacy and numeracy, perception of health, or use of insulin pump.⁴⁸

2.2 Race, ethnicity, and diabetes outcomes

Peer-reviewed studies have been published about ethnicity, race, and diabetes outcomes in children with T1D, mainly outside of Canada.^{32,55,56} Notable disparities in HbA1c and the occurrence of DKA by ethnicity have been reported. Some of these findings originate from the aforementioned studies (section 2.1) on SES and diabetes outcomes.^{17,32,55,56}

Research by Snyder et al. found that minority race/ethnicity (non-Hispanic white) was associated with higher HbA1c.⁵⁶ The SEARCH study also examined ethnic differences in glycemic control within each insulin regimen. Insulin regimens were classified as either 1) insulin pump therapy, 2) basal-bolus injections, and 3) a mixed insulin regimen, which included multiple daily injections (\geq 3 injections) of basal insulin, intermediate-acting, or rapid-acting insulin, multiple daily injections (\geq 3 injections) with any insulin types excluding basal insulin, and multiple daily injections (\geq 2 injections) excluding basal insulin. Poor glycemic control was defined as HbA1c \geq 9.5% as per ADA guidelines. Non-White race was associated with higher odds of poor glycemic control in an unadjusted logistic regression model (OR 2.7, 95% CI 1.74, 4.12) including all three insulin regimens. In an adjusted logistic regression model which accounted for clinical, sociodemographic, adherence, and barriers-to-care factors, Non-White race remained significantly associated with poor HbA1c (OR 2.7, 95% CI 1.5, 4.72) only in patients using an insulin pump. Although insulin pump users had the best glycemic control, ethnicity was a significant predictor of poor glycemic control in this group, when other factors were controlled for such as barriers-to-care (lack of a regular provider, cost of care), adherence (diabetes-related family conflict, hypoglycemia fear, eating problems, and frequency of blood glucose monitoring) and sociodemographic factors.

Khanokolar et al. found significant results for the impact of ethnicity on HbA1c in a large cohort of children (<19 years) with T1D in England and Wales where the National Health Service provides free health care, covering the costs of T1D treatment.⁵⁵ Ethnicity was self-reported according to the following categories: White, Asian, Black, mixed, other and 'not stated'. The main outcome was mean HbA1c levels. Compared to the White ethnic group, all other ethnicities had higher mean HbA1c levels with the highest levels observed in the Black (9.5%, p<0.0001) and mixed ethnicity (9.4%, p=0.0001) groups.⁵⁵ Low SES was associated with higher HbA1c across all ethnic groups; however, adjusting for SES and insulin pump use showed a smaller effect for Asian children but not for Black and mixed children. This suggests that for Asian children, HbA1c were likely affected by the lack of access to insulin pumps in addition to cultural beliefs, lifestyle and health care access which may likely affect Black and mixed children in the sample.⁵⁵

Another study by Khankolar et al. further examined ethnic differences in the stabilization of HbA1c in the first six months postdiagnosis, its effect on subsequent HbA1c, and the severity of DKA at diagnosis in a longitudinal cohort study of newly diagnosed patients aged <19 years with T1D from three different diabetes clinics in East London, UK.⁶¹ Primary exposure was self-reported ethnicity using 15 ethnic categories collapsed into 6 groups including White, Mixed ethnicity, Black, African-Somali, Bangladeshi and Asian-Other. These ethnic groups reflected the ethnic distribution of the study area. Results showed that ethnic minority groups presented with higher mean HbA1c at diagnosis compared to White children, and this difference was only statistically significant in the Bangladeshi and South Asian groups (3.0%, 95% CI 2.5, 3.4; 2.7%, 95% CI 2.4, 3.0, respectively), and in the Somali-group only after adjustment by SES (2.6%, 95% CI 2.2, 3.1). These groups also had the highest mean difference in HbA1c levels at diagnosis compared to White children.⁶¹ Although the type of insulin regimen was not available

in the sample, the authors state that only a small proportion was on insulin pump therapy. Ethnic differences persisted after controlling for SES which indicates that there are important drivers of these disparities that should be examined beyond SES.

Thompson et al. also found disparities in HbA1c and access to care by ethnicity in a study conducted in the UK.³² Ethnicity was self-reported using the National Health Service Standard Demographic data set and was grouped as White British, African, Asian non-Indian, or Asian Indian. Analysis by ANOVA demonstrated that HbA1c levels were highest in the African group and lowest in the British White group (P<0.001). Furthermore, in a multivariate model adjusted for deprivation score, gender, age, and treatment regimen, ethnicity and insulin pump therapy were associated with HbA1c (ANOVA with the Tukey honestly significant difference post hoc test; ethnicity t=4.18, p<0.001; insulin pump t=2.79, p=0.005). White British and Indian Asian groups were more likely to receive insulin pump therapy ($\chi^2 = 50.3$, p < 0.001).³² The observation that ethnicity was a strong correlate for higher HbA1c, despite high attendance rates across all ethnic groups, suggested that additional factors may have contributed to these differences, although insulin pump use was a major factor being associated with lower HbA1c in a one-way ANOVA (F=7.02, p≤0.001) and more likely to be used by the White British and Asian Indian groups. Language barriers may impede the communication between health care providers and some ethnic groups. Also, the way different health care professionals approach different ethnic groups and understand different lifestyles and views on health care (i.e. lack of culturally safe care from health care providers) can influence these disparities.³²

Lipman et al. conducted a retrospective chart review of children (<18 years) with T1D from the Diabetes Center at Children's Hospital of Philadelphia between October 2018 and December 2019.⁶² Electronic health records were reviewed to investigate the effects of either government or commercial insurance, as a proxy for SES and race/ethnicity on diabetes outcomes, including HbA1c. Ethnic categories included Non-Hispanic White, Non-Hispanic Black, and Hispanic, which largely represented the ethnic diversity of Philadelphia. Non-Hispanic White children had significantly lower HbA1c levels (7.8%) compared to Non-Hispanic Black children (8.6%; p<0.001) in commercially and government-insured patients. In logistic regression analysis adjusted for age and diabetes duration, Non-Hispanic Black children had higher odds of having suboptimal glycemic control, defined by HbA1c \geq 7.5% (OR: 4.9, 95% CI 3.1, 7.7) compared to Non-Hispanic White children which was also observed within the commercially insured group; Non-Hispanic Black children had higher odds of poor glycemic control compared to Non-Hispanic White children (OR: 5.1, 95% CI 2.6, 10.1). The authors were able to distinguish the effect of SES from race/ethnicity on diabetes outcomes in this sample and concluded that while SES was an important factor, cultural factors and implicit racial/ethnic bias may also contribute to disparities observed within the commercially insured group.⁶²

Willi et al. examined racial/ethnic disparities in children with T1D using data from the T1D Exchange Clinic Network which includes 73 pediatric and adult endocrinology practices in the U.S. with data collected from medical records since September 2010.⁶³ The retrospective cohort study included children (ages <18) from 60 pediatric sites who were enrolled in the registry between August 2010 to August 2012, with T1D for at least a year, who identified as either White, Black, or Hispanic which were the race/ethnicity categories included in the study.⁶³ Demographic information was obtained through questionnaires completed by parents/guardians of patients or patients including frequency of blood glucose monitoring, DKA events, severe hypoglycemic events, and SES. SES was defined by household income, highest parental education level, and insurance status - either private, nonprivate, or no insurance. Insulin regimen was obtained for each participant based on medical records and HbA1c measurements from 6 months before and 1 month after enrollment were collected. Linear mixed model adjusted for age, gender, BMI z-score, diabetes duration, pediatric site effect, and SES showed significant differences in mean HbA1c between Black and White children (p <0.001) and between Hispanic and Black children (p < 0.001); no significant difference in mean HbA1c was found between Hispanic and White children. Among children using a pump, mean HbA1c was significantly lower across all racial/ethnic groups with the greatest difference among Black children which indicated a significant interaction between race/ethnicity and insulin regimen (p<0.001). Nonetheless, Black children had the lowest percentage of pump use compared to White children after adjusting for SES in binary mixed models also adjusted for age group (1 to 6 years, 7 to 13 years, 14 to 18 years), gender, diabetes duration, interaction between age group and diabetes duration (p<0.001). Although this study includes a racially/ethnically diverse sample of children, the investigation of White, Black, and Hispanic groups may have excluded other minorities in

the population, therefore the findings may not be generalizable to populations with a more complex racial and ethnic composition.

3 RATIONALE AND RESEARCH OBJECTIVES

SES disparities in processes of care and health outcomes have been reported in children with T1D. Specifically, two U.S. studies found that insurance status, a common measure of SES, was a predictor for glycemic control.^{56,57} Likewise, two studies in the UK reported that area deprivation was associated with glycemic control.^{32,58} A study in France found similar results where individual and area deprivation predicted glycemic control in children with T1D.⁵⁹ Two Canadian studies have described socioeconomic disparities in glycemic control.^{48,60} Higher HbA1c levels were highest in patients with the greatest degree of Material and Social deprivation.⁴⁸ These Canadian studies used data prior to 2012 and 2013, since then, newer technologies and access to technologies have changed.

The literature also demonstrates evidence of ethnic disparities. U.S. studies have consistently reported that children of Non-White race are more likely to have poor glycemic control.^{56,62} Three studies in the UK also found that compared to White children, Black and South Asian children had higher HbA1c levels.^{32,55,61} There has been growing evidence of health inequalities in racialized groups in Canada including ethnic minorities.⁶⁴ However, evidence of ethnic disparities in diabetes outcomes in children with T1D in Canada is limited, and other equity measures that affect diabetes outcomes such as immigration status have not yet been addressed in a Canadian context.

Factors beyond individual characteristics and diabetes care should be addressed to understand social inequities that contribute to diabetes outcomes. Lipman and Hawkes proposed a conceptual framework that describes the standard approach to care for T1D which is mostly centered on individual characteristics and aspects of diabetes care, with less focus on the impact of social determinants, society, and public policy.⁶⁵ The model suggests that other factors, including SES, structural racism, federal programs and health insurance can contribute as barriers to diabetes care and should be considered to address health disparities.⁶⁵ Although some of the literature addresses pathways by which SES impacts glycemic control, few studies have examined ways that social factors interact with components of diabetes care and individual factors that can be addressed to help reduce disparities. For example, only one Canadian study examined whether insulin pump use modified the effect of low SES on glycemic control.⁴⁸ Also, studies have addressed that attendance to medical appointments contributes to optimal glycemic control⁴⁶, however, no study has examined whether these processes of care interact with SES to affect glycemic control. Furthermore, little is known about how psychosocial factors interact with SES to impact glycemic control. A Canadian study on an adult population with T2D in Montreal found that glycemic control of individuals of low SES can be maintained by targeting factors that mediate the relationship between SES and glycemic control such as depression, coping strategies for stress, and management of diabetes such as a healthy diet.⁵⁰ There is an opportunity to highlight socioeconomic and racial disparities in the Canadian pediatric population living with T1D and identify factors that can mitigate them.

The objectives of this research were to examine socioeconomic disparities in diabetes outcomes among children in Montreal, Quebec. The objectives sought specifically to determine the relationship between health equity measures and glycemic control. The main analysis and conceptual model for the research are shown in Figure 1. The effect of SES on children's HbA1c levels has been established in the literature. The Material and Social Deprivation Index (MSDI) from the INSPQ measures socioeconomic characteristics on two dimensions, material, and social deprivation, based on six indicators that relate to health, material wealth, or social connectedness which include: proportion of people without a high school diploma, employment to population ratio, average income, the proportion of individuals living alone, the proportion of people separated, divorced, or widowed, the proportion of single-parent households. Given the relationship of these variables with health outcomes, we hypothesized that compared to higher SES, lower SES as measured with the MSDI was associated with worse glycemic control, as measured by mean HbA1c.

The secondary objective was to examine whether other variables have a modifying effect on the relationship between SES and glycemic control, such as insulin pump use, processes of care, and depressive symptoms, as shown in Figure 2. The use of insulin pumps is beneficial for glycemic control and programs in Quebec have made insulin pump therapy more accessible to individuals of lower SES. With such programs, we hypothesized that the use of insulin pumps would have a modifying effect on the association between SES and glycemic control (i.e., no significant association between SES and glycemic control among those using an insulin pump). The recommended processes of care for children with T1D include at least three diabetes-related physician visits in a year for optimal diabetes care and management. We hypothesized that adherence to these guidelines would also have a modifying effect on the relationship between SES and diabetes health outcomes with no association between SES and glycemic control for those with optimal adherence. Furthermore, depressive symptoms in children with T1D are common and affect glycemic control through less monitoring and less self-care behaviour.⁵¹ We hypothesized that depressive symptoms would also have a modifying effect on the relationship between SES and glycemic control in children with T1D; where there would be no significant association between SES and glycemic control for those with a positive depression screen. Additionally, the effect of race, ethnicity and immigration status on health outcomes have been described. Inequalities related to race and ethnicity are often a result of a lack of access to care, language and cultural barriers which prevent individuals from adhering to and receiving optimal care. As part of the secondary objective, we will also examine the relationship between ethnicity, immigration, and glycemic control in a subgroup, as depicted in Figure 3.

Summary of Research Objectives

The primary objective was to determine the association between SES and mean HbA1c in children and adolescents aged 0 to 18 years with T1D followed at the Montreal Children's Hospital between November 1st, 2019 and October 31st, 2020, adjusting for age, sex, and diabetes duration, insulin pump use, and processes of care.

The secondary objectives were:

 To assess whether processes of care (as measured by the number of diabetes-related physician visits over a year), insulin pump use, and depression modifies the association between SES and mean HbA1c. Determine the association between a) ethnicity and b) immigration status and mean HbA1c adjusting for age, sex, diabetes duration, SES, insulin pump use, and processes of care.



Figure 1. Association between SES and mean HbA1c



Figure 2. Effect modification of insulin pump use, processes of care and depression on the association of SES with mean HbA1c

*Effect modification by the covariate



Figure 3. Association of Ethnicity/immigration and mean HbA1c
4 Health disparities in children with Type 1 diabetes

4.1 Abstract

Objectives

The primary objective was to determine the association between socioeconomic status (SES) and glycemic control, as measured by mean hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c), in children and adolescents aged 0 to 18 years with type 1 diabetes (T1D) followed at the Montreal Children's Hospital (MCH) for their diabetes care. The secondary objectives were to 1) determine whether insulin pump use, processes of care (determined by the number of diabetes-related physician visits in the past year), and depression were effect modifiers of this relationship, and to 2) determine the association between a) ethnicity and b) immigration status and mean HbA1c.

Methods

A retrospective cohort study was conducted on children aged 0 to 18 years diagnosed with T1D for at least a year who had an index visit for diabetes care at the MCH between November 1st, 2019, and October 31^{st,} 2020. SES was measured with the Material and Social Deprivation Index (MSDI) from the Institut National de Santé du Québec (INSPQ), based on the 2016 Canadian Census. Ethnicity, immigration status, and depression were self-reported and measured for a subgroup. The main outcome was mean HbA1c measured during the one year after the index visit. Multivariable linear regression was used to examine associations between SES, ethnicity, and immigration with mean HbA1c. Multivariable linear regression with interaction terms was used to examine effect modification of SES and mean HbA1c by insulin pump use, processes of care, and depression.

Results

Of the 208 children meeting inclusion criteria for the cohort, the MDSI quintile was assigned to 203, of which 47.8% were in the least deprived quintiles (Q1 and Q2), 26.6% were in the moderately deprived quintile (Q3), and 25.6% were in the most deprived quintiles (Q4 and Q5). In the multivariable linear regression analyses, children in the most deprived quintiles had a higher mean HbA1c (β =0.50, 95% CI 0.04, 0.97). Effect modification by insulin pump use, processes of care, and depression were not significant.

In a subgroup of 183 children with ethnicity data, 68.9% identified as White, 11.5% as Middle Eastern, 3.3% as Black and 8.7% were classified as "Other" and included East/Southeast Asian, Indigenous, Latino, South Asian, and other unspecified. In the adjusted analysis, children from racialized groups had a mean HbA1c 0.64% higher than children from non-racialized groups (β =0.64, 95% CI 0.15, 1.13). Immigration status was not associated with mean HbA1c.

Conclusions

The observed associations between socioeconomic status, ethnicity, and glycemic control are important for further research to understand drivers that contribute to these disparities in a Canadian context.

4.2 Introduction

Social determinants of health influence diabetes management through access to health care and technology, and disease management.^{47,65} Studies of children and adolescents with T1D have demonstrated that social and ethnic disparities have an impact on diabetes health outcomes.^{32,48,66} The impact of socioeconomic status (SES) has been examined as measured by insurance coverage, household income, parental education, poverty rate, and deprivation indices.^{17,44} Studies have reported that SES is associated with diabetes health outcomes through access to treatments,³² adherence to guidelines and health care utilization,⁶⁷ and access to additional diabetes care,⁴⁸ and that children of low SES are at a greater risk of having a higher hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) compared to children of high SES.^{47,48,56,57,59,60} Few studies investigated this question while considering the Canadian context, which offers universal financial coverage for health care. Furthermore, little is known about factors that may modify the relationship between SES and glycemic control, such as mental health factors, health care utilization, adherence to diabetes guidelines, and access to insulin pumps. The current study aimed to 1) determine the association between SES measured by the Material and Social Deprivation Index (MSDI) and mean HbA1c, where SES was also measured by the Canadian Index of Multiple Deprivation (CIMD); 2) determine whether this association was modified by insulin pump use, processes of care (determined by the number of diabetes-related physician visits in the past year), and depression; and 3) determine the association between a) ethnicity and b) immigration status and mean HbA1c.

4.3 Methodology

4.3.1 Study design

This was a retrospective cohort study.

4.3.2 Population and setting

We included children aged 0 to 18 years who had T1D for ≥ 1 year and an index diabetes-related physician visit at the MCH between November 1st, 2019, and October 31st, 2020. Children are typically seen at the MCH diabetes clinic 3 times a year which includes physician visits. The index date was defined as the date with the first diabetes-related physician visit recorded between November 1st, 2019, and October 21st, 2020. Diagnosis of T1D was based on Clinical practice Guidelines (CPG) for diabetes.⁶⁸ Children with type 2 diabetes, pre-diabetes, other specific types, and gestational diabetes were excluded. Children who were diagnosed for at least a year but did not have previous visits recorded in the database as they had been receiving care elsewhere were excluded. Children with no HbA1c measures were excluded from the analysis due to missing values for the main outcome.

4.3.3 Data collection

We used data from the Montreal Children's Hospital Pediatric Diabetes Database, a REDcap database, which contains patient-level and visit-level data abstracted from medical records for children with T1D seen at the MCH from 2017 to date. Demographic information collected at the index visit included: sex, age, and postal code. Additional patient information included date of diagnosis, diabetes type, date of follow-up visits, HbA1c, and insulin pump use. The Diabetes Clinical Intake Form database, which includes data from caregiver- and/or youth- administered questionnaires, was used to collect other demographic information in a subgroup of patients including self-reported ethnicity and immigration status. The database also included depression screening by the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-2) score, a two-item depression screening

tool. Variables collected at each visit and used for analyses included: HbA1c and insulin pump use.

4.3.4 Variables

Baseline demographics

Age at the index visit was calculated by subtracting the date of birth from the date of index visit. Sex was reported in the database as either male or female. Duration of diabetes was determined by subtracting the date of diagnosis from the date of the index visit.

Primary exposure: SES

The primary SES variable was determined with the MSDI quintiles, which is assigned using the child's postal code at the index date. The validated deprivation index is based on socioeconomic indicators drawn from the 2016 Canadian Census at the dissemination area level, which are small area units of 400 to 700 persons. The socioeconomic indicators include the proportion of single-parent families, the population aged 15 years old and over, the proportion without a high school diploma or equivalent, the employment to population ratio, the average income, the proportion living alone, and the proportion who are separated, divorced, or widowed.⁶⁸

Postal codes at index date were linked to the MSDI datasets provided by the *Institut National de santé Publique du Québec* (INSPQ) to determine deprivation quintiles. There are four MSDI versions for Canada: a national version, regional version, metropolitan version, and a version for geographical zones.⁶⁹ For this study, the regional index for Quebec was used. The postal codes were linked to the MSDI files using SAS EG 9.4. The resulting dataset contained each postal code and the corresponding deprivation quintile. An overall combined deprivation quintile was determined by grouping the social deprivation and material deprivation quintiles assigned based on the methodology recommended by INSPQ.⁶⁹ We grouped the least deprived quintiles, 1 and 2, and the most deprived quintiles 4 and 5. This resulted in 3 groups: Q1 and Q2 (least deprived), Q3 (moderately deprived), and Q4 and Q5 (most deprived).⁷⁰

The MSDI is a validated and most widely used tool to measure deprivation in Canada. In a sensitivity analysis, we also measured SES with the Canadian Index of Multiple Deprivation (CIMD), another validated tool to measure deprivation in Canada, which provides a comprehensive measure of deprivation using additional constructs compared to the MSDI.⁷¹ Thus adding the CIMD as measure of SES would provide additional information on aspects of deprivation that are associated with health outcomes that may not be addressed with the MSDI. The CIMD is based on the 2016 Canadian Census and is generated by linking postal codes to data from dissemination areas. For this study, the regional index for Quebec was used. The index contains four dimensions: residential instability, economic dependency, ethnocultural composition, and situational vulnerability (Table 1). Each dimension was considered separately as they each measure a specific aspect of deprivation.

Table 1. The four dimensions of multiple deprivation and their corresponding indicators for Quebec in the CIMD, 2016⁷²

Residential Instability	Ethnocultural	Economic	Situational
	Composition	Dependency	Vulnerability
 Proportion of persons living alone Average number of persons per dwelling Proportion of population that is married or common-law* Proportion of dwellings that are owned* Proportion of dwellings that are apartment buildings Proportion of the population who moved within the past five years Proportion of population that is low-income 	 Proportion of population that is foreign-born Proportion of population who self-identify as visible minority Proportion of population with no knowledge of either official language (linguistic isolation) Proportion of population who are recent immigrants (arrived in five years prior to Census) 	 Proportion of population aged 65 and older Proportion of population participating in labour force (aged 15 and older)* Ratio of employment to population* Dependency ratio (population aged 0- 14 and aged 65 and older divided by population aged 15- 64) 	 Proportion of population that identifies as Aboriginal Proportion of dwellings needing major repairs Proportion of population aged 25-64 without a high school diploma

*The indicators are reversed-coded

Deprivation quintiles for each dimension were obtained by linking postal codes to the Postal Code Conversion File (PCCF), which assigns each postal code to a DA. The resulting dataset was then linked to the Quebec provincial index to assign quintiles within each dimension of the index, with 1 being the least deprived and 5 being the most deprived. We grouped the least deprived quintiles, 1 and 2, and the most deprived quintiles 4 and 5. This resulted in 3 groups: Q1 and Q2 (least deprived), Q3 (moderately deprived), and Q4 and Q5 (most deprived).

Insulin pump use

Insulin pump status was recorded at each visit. Children were considered on the pump if they had been on an insulin pump for at least 6 months by their index visit and during all study period visits afterwards. For instance, children who were on the pump for 3 out of 4 visits were not considered being on the pump. The number of visits during the study period was determined for each patient, as well as the proportion of visits where the insulin pump status was either on-pump or off-pump

Processes of care

Processes of care were measured by the number of diabetes-related physician visits in the year before the index visit. A variable was created to categorize patients who had less than three, three to four, and more than four visits in the past year according to a definition of optimal adherence derived from pediatric endocrinologists across Canada.³⁷ Processes of care was categorized into three groups to account for a possible non-linear relationship between HbA1c and numbers of diabetes-related physician visits.⁶⁷

Outcomes

The primary outcome was mean HbA1c in the year following the index visit. At the MCH, HbA1c is measured with a capillary blood sample using point of care testing using the DCA Vantage analyzer. The reagent kit uses 1 uL of whole blood and a reading is obtained through an optical window (Bayer Vantage Hemoglobin A1c Reagent Kit). HbA1c was measured and recorded at each visit as a percentage. A minimum of one HbA1c measurement was required for inclusion in the study; each patient's HbA1c measure was averaged and included for the analysis.

Variables for the subgroup analysis

The Diabetes Clinical Intake Form contains long and short format forms that collect demographic and clinical information of patients such as self-reported ethnicity, the patient's and caregiver/parent's immigration status, and scores of the PHQ-2 (a two-item depression screening tool). Information from this database was used to conduct a subgroup analysis, to determine the association between ethnicity and immigration status with diabetes outcomes, and depression as an interaction term in the main model.

Depression

Information on depression screening for the child was available from the PHQ-2, which contains the following questions: "During the past two weeks, I/my child has had little interest or pleasure in doing things" and "during the past two weeks, I/my child has felt down, depressed, or hopeless". The PHQ-2 is a screening instrument for depression which is comprised of the two first items of the full screening instrument (PHQ-9). Scores for the PHQ-2 range from 0-6; a score of 3 or greater signifies a positive depression screen.⁷³

Ethnicity

Self-reported ethnicity was available in the database as a categorical variable for the following ethnic groups: Arab, Black, Chinese, Filipino, First Nations, Inuit, Japanese, Korean, Latin American, Métis, South Asian, Southeast Asian, West Asian, White, Other, Unknown, Prefer not to answer.⁷⁴

Ethnicity was collapsed into 8 mutually exclusive groups, based on proposed groupings by the Canadian Institute for Health Information:⁷⁵ Black, East/Southeast Asian, Indigenous, Latino, Middle Eastern, South Asian, White, Other, Unknown, prefer not to answer. The groups were categorized as either racialized or non-racialized according to Statistic Canada's definition of visible minority.⁷⁶ The term racialized is used as defined by the Ontario Human Rights Commission.⁷⁷

Immigration status

Self-reported immigration status was defined as either 1) at least one parent/caregiver and child are both non-immigrants, 2) both parents/caregiver and child are both immigrants, 3) at least one parent is an immigrant and child is a non-immigrant.

4.3.5 Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics were computed for patient characteristics, including mean and standard deviation (SD) for continuous variables, and proportions for categorical variables. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used for comparison of continuous variables between the SES categories, including age, diabetes duration, HbA1c, and the number of physician visits in the past year. Chi-square tests were used for comparison of categorical variables between the SES categories: sex, insulin pump use, physician visits, and HbA1c less than/above 7.5%. HbA1c of 7.5% was chosen based on the Diabetes Canada Guideline's target HbA1c for individuals aged < 18 years.³⁶ Mean HbA1c were also compared between patients on and off-pump therapy and physician visits (<3, 3-4, >4) by ANOVA.

To determine the association between SES and mean HbA1c, a multivariable linear regression model was conducted with SES as the primary exposure and mean HbA1c as the primary outcome. Age, sex, diabetes duration, insulin pump use, processes of care, were included as covariates and determined *a priori*.

A multivariable linear regression analysis was conducted to determine the association between SES and HbA1c, with an interaction term for insulin pump therapy to assess for effect modification of SES by insulin pump status. Covariates included age, sex, diabetes duration, and processes of care.

To assess effect modification of SES group by processes of care on mean HbA1c, the interaction between SES and diabetes-related physician visits (<3, 3-4, >4) was included in a multivariable linear regression model with age, sex, duration of diabetes, and insulin pump use as covariates.

4.3.6 Subgroup analysis

Analyses were conducted on the subgroup with information on self-reported ethnicity, immigration status and depression. In a descriptive analysis, we compared ethnicity, immigration status and depression by SES categories using Chi-square tests

We repeated the multivariable linear regression model described in the main analyses to determine the association of SES with HbA1c and included an interaction term for depression to assess for effect modification by depression. As before, the model adjusted for age, sex, duration of diabetes, insulin pump use, and processes of care.

The effect of ethnicity, categorized as racialized vs. non-racialized, on mean HbA1c was determined by multivariable linear regression analysis adjusted for SES (measured by the MSDI), age, sex, diabetes duration, insulin pump use, and processes of care. Similarly, the association between immigration status and mean HbA1c was determined by multivariable linear regression with the covariates SES, age, sex, diabetes duration, insulin pump use, and processes of care.

Sensitivity analysis

A sensitivity analysis was conducted to measure SES with the Canadian Index of Multiple Deprivation (CIMD). The association between deprivation measured by each dimension of the CIMD and mean HbA1c was determined by a multivariable linear regression model, adjusted for age, sex, diabetes duration, insulin pump use, and processes of care.

A sensitivity analysis was also conducted wherein those on insulin pump therapy for at least half of the visits during the study period were also considered to be on insulin pump therapy. This was done to determine if there were any differences in the association by including those who were on the pump for at least 50% of the follow up visits.

Sample size

To detect a minimal clinically important difference in mean HbA1c of 0.5^{48,78} between the least deprived and most deprived groups with a desired power of 0.8, we estimated that a minimum of 64 individuals in each group was needed, assuming a common standard deviation of 1% using a two group t-test with a 5% two-sided significance level. Given that there were 3 SES groups, a total of 192 individuals was required.

Assignment of MSDI quintiles was done using SAS version 9, and all analyses were performed with R Studio. The statistical tests were 2-sided with significance at p < 0.05. Ethics approval was obtained from the Research Ethics Board of the Research Institute of the McGill University Health Centre.

4.4 Results

STUDY POPULATION

Diabetes database

As of January 2nd, 2022, there was a total of 266 patients recorded in the database. Ten patients were excluded for non-T1D. We excluded 40 patients (15%) who had not been diagnosed with T1D for at least one year. We excluded 7 children for having no HbA1c measurements.

MSDI quintiles

After linking with the MSDI datasets to assign deprivation quintiles, 4 patients were excluded as they matched to a dissemination area with no deprivation index and were assigned a missing value. Two were excluded for having a postal code that was not part of the PCCF and was assigned an index value of zero. The characteristics of excluded subjects are presented in Appendix 1. A total of 203 patients were included in the analysis using the MSDI quintiles to measure SES.

Diabetes clinical intake form

Approximately 345 patients completed the Diabetes Clinical Intake Form, which included 203 children from the main database. From the 203, a total of 183 were included for the analysis involving ethnicity, after 20 were excluded (10%) for the following reasons: 13 preferred not to report ethnicity and 7 had missing values. From the 203, a total of 192 were included for the analysis involving depression screening scores 11 (5%) children were excluded for missing scores. A total of 113 patients had information on the parent/caregiver or child's immigration status, after 90 children were excluded from the 203 for missing information on immigration status. A flowchart is presented in Appendix 2.

	Total	Q1+Q2	Q3	Q4+Q5	p-value
	N = 203 (100%)	N=96 (47.3%)	N=54 (26.6%)	N=53 (26.1%)	
Age (years), <i>mean</i> (SD)	13.5(3.5)	13.9 (3.1)	13.3(3.8)	12.8 (3.9)	0.12
Sex (male), <i>n</i> (%)	108 (53.2)	47 (49.0)	32 (42.6)	29 (54.7)	0.46
Duration of diabetes (years), <i>mean (SD)</i>	4.9 (3.8)	5.1 (3.9)	4.4 (3.5)	5.0 (4.0)	0.49
Insulin pump (yes), <i>n</i> (%)	76 (37.4)	39 (40.6)	23 (42.6)	14 (26.4)	0.15
# of MD clinic visits over the past 12 months, <i>mean (SD)</i>	3.4 (0.9)	3.4 (1.0)	3.5 (0.8)	3.5 (0.9)	0.45
# MD visits, <i>n</i> (%)					0.78
< 3 visits, <i>n</i> (%)	23 (11.3)	13 (13.5)	4 (7.4)	6 (11.3)	
3-4 visits, <i>n</i> (%)	165 (81.3)	75 (77.3)	47 (87.0)	43 (81.1)	
> 4 visits, <i>n</i> (%)	15 (7.4)	8 (8.3)	3 (5.6)	4 (7.5)	
HbA1c %, mean (SD)	8.3 (1.4)	8.2 (1.3)	8.2 (1.3)	8.7 (1.5)	0.05
HbA1c \leq 7.5%, <i>n</i> (%)	60 (29.6)	33 (34.4)	14 (25.9)	13 (24.5)	0.33

Table 2. Population Characteristics across MSDI quintiles

The population characteristics of the main database are shown in Table 1. The mean (SD) age at index visit was 13.5 (3.5) years and 53.2% were male. The mean duration of diabetes was 4.9

(3.8) years. A total of 96 (47.3%) patients were in the least deprived quintiles, 54 (26.6%) patients in the moderately deprived quintile, and 53 (26.1%) in the most deprived quintiles.Thirty-seven percent were on insulin pump therapy and 81.3% had 3-4 diabetes-related physician visits in the year before their index visits.

HbA1c

The mean (SD) HbA1c in the total population was 8.3% (1.4%); 29.6% had an HbA1c below 7.5%. Mean HbA1c was highest in the most deprived SES group compared to the least deprived and moderately deprived SES groups (p=0.05). Mean HbA1c by SES was lower in patients on insulin pump therapy (Table 2) (p<0.05). The difference in HbA1c by number of diabetes-related physician visits was not statistically significant as shown in Table 3 (p=0.06).

Pump use	Total	Q1+Q2	Q3	Q4+Q5
Yes (n=76)		I		
HbA1c %, mean (SD)	7.9(1.0)	7.8(1.0)	7.9(1.0)	8.2(1.1)
No (n=127)				
HbA1c %, mean (SD)	8.5(1.5)	8.4(1.4)	8.4(1.5)	8.9(1.6)

Table 3. SES difference in mean HbA1c by pump status (yes/no)

p-value <0.05 by ANOVA

Table 4. SES differences in mean HbA1c by number of diabetes-related physician visits in

the prior year

	Total	Q1+Q2	Q3	Q4+Q5
# MD visits < 3 (n=23)				
HbA1c %, mean (SD)	8.1(1.2)	7.7(0.9)	8.1(1.2)	8.9(1.6)
# MD visits 3-4 (n=165)			
HbA1c %, mean (SD)	8.3(1.4)	8.2(1.3)	8.2(1.3)	8.6(1.5)
# MD visits > 4 (n=15)				
HbA1c %, mean (SD)	9.1(1.6)	9.0(1.6)	8.2(1.2)	9.9(2.0)
p-value = 0.06 by ANOVA				

SUBGROUPS

Ethnicity

Population characteristics for a subgroup with ethnicity by MSDI quintiles are shown in Table 5. The mean (SD) age was 13.4 (3.5) years and 51.9% were male. A total of 68.9% identified as White, 11.5% as Middle Eastern, 3.3% as Black, 8.7% as "Other" and 7.7% identified with more than one ethnicity (mixed). The 'other' group included the following self-reported ethnicities: East/Southeast Asian, Indigenous, Latino, South Asian, and other unspecified, and were grouped because of the small proportion for each ethnic group.

Mean (SD) duration of diabetes was 5 years (3.8), mean HbA1c was 8.2% (1.3%) and 30.6% had a mean HbA1c below 7.5%. A total of 47.5% were grouped in the least deprived quintiles, 26.2% in the moderately deprived quintile, and 26.2% in the most deprived quintiles. In total, 37.7% were on insulin pump therapy and 82.5% had 3-4 MD visits in the year prior.

	Total = 183	Q1+Q2	Q3	Q4+Q5	p-value
	(100%)	N=87 (47.5%)	N=48 (26.2%)	N=48 (26.2%)	
Age (years), <i>mean</i> (SD)	13.4(3.5)	13.8 (3.1)	13.5 (3.5)	12.6 (4.0)	0.17
Sex (male), <i>n</i> (%)	95 (51.9)	41 (47.1)	28 (58.3)	26 (54.2)	0.43
Duration of diabetes (years), mean (SD)	4.9 (3.8)	5.1 (3.9)	4.6 (3.5)	4.9 (4.0)	0.82
Insulin pump (yes), n (%)	69 (37.7)	34 (39.1%)	21 (43.8%)	14 (29.2%)	0.32
# of MD clinic visits over the past 12 months, <i>mean</i> (SD)	3.5 (0.9)	3.4 (1.0)	3.5 (0.8)	3.5 (0.8)	0.65
# MD visit	rs, n (%)				0.40

Table 5. Patient Characteristics of the ethnicity subgroup

MD visits $(9/)$	20 (10.9)	12 (13.8)	*	5 (10.4)	
< 3, <i>n</i> (%)					
MD visits	151 (82.5)	68 (78.2)	43 (89.6)	40 (83.3)	
3-4 , <i>n</i> (%)					
MD visits	12 (6.6)	7 (8.0)	*	*	
>4, n (%)					
HbA1c	8.2 (1.3)	8.1 (1.3)	8.1 (1.3)	8.6 (1.4)	0.15
%, mean					
(SD)					
HbA1c≤	56 (30.6)	29 (33.3)	14 (29.2)	13 (27.1)	0.73
	50 (50.0)	29 (33.3)	14 (29.2)	13 (27.1)	0.75
7.5, <i>n</i> (%)					
Ethnicity,					
n (%)					
Middle	21 (11.5)	8 (9.2)	*	9 (18.8)	
Eastern	(,				
Black	6 (3.3)	*	*	*	
Diach	0 (0.0)				
White	126 (68.9)	65 (74.7)	37 (77.1)	24 (50.0)	
<i>wnne</i>	120 (00.7)	05 (14.1)	57 (77.1)	24 (30.0)	
Other	16 (8.7)	5 (5.7)	*	9 (18.8)	
Mixed	14 (7.7)	8 (9.2)	*	*	

As seen in Table 6, mean HbA1c was significantly higher in racialized ethnic groups (8.9%) (1.5%)) compared to non-racialized ethnic groups (8.1%) (1.2%)) (p<0.01).

	Total (N=183)	Racialized (n=38)	Non-racialized (n=145)	p-value
HbA1c % (SD)	8.2 (1.3)	8.9(1.5)	8.1 (1.2)	<0.01
HbA1c % ≤ 7.5, n (%)	56 (30.6)	7 (18.4)	49 (33.8)	0.13

Immigration status

A total of 113 patients reported parent and child immigration status (Table 7). Ninety-four (83.2%) parents and children were both non-immigrant/non-refugees, 9 (8.0%) children were immigrants with parents who were also immigrants, and 10 (8.8%) children were non-immigrants with parents who were immigrants.

Among non-immigrant children whose caregiver/parent was a non-immigrant, 51.0% reported English as the language that is most spoken at home, 44.7% reported French and 4.3% reported a language other than English and French. Among immigrant children whose parent

were also an immigrant, 11.1% reported English, 33.3% reported French, and 55.5% reported a language other than English and French. Among non-immigrant children whose parent was an immigrant, 30.0%, 30.0%, and 40.0% reported English, French or a language other than English or French, respectively, as the primary language spoken at home. HbA1c did not differ by immigration status (Table 7).

	Total (N=113)	Non-immigrant parent; non- immigrant child (N=94)	Immigrant parent; immigrant child (N=9)	Immigrant parent; non- immigrant child (N=10)	p- value
Mean HbA1c % (SD)	8.3 (1.4)	8.2(1.3)	8.0 (1.2)	8.9 (2.2)	0.26
HbA1c ≤ 7.5, n (%)	36 (31.8)	29 (30.9)	5 (55.6)	*	0.23

Table 7. Mean	HbA1c b	y immi	gration	status
*Count less than 5				

Depression

Mean HbA1c was compared between those who screened positive for depression and those who screened negative across the three deprivation quintiles, as shown in Table 8. There was no significant difference in mean HbA1c by SES between those who screened negative for depression and those who screened positive for depression.

	Total (n=192)	Q1+Q2 (n=90)	Q3 (n=51)	Q4+Q5 (n=51)
Positive depression	screen (n=56)			
HbA1c %, mean (SD)	8.4 (1.2)	8.3 (0.9)	8.4 (1.3)	8.8 (1.6)
Negative depression	n screen (n=136)		· ·	
HbA1c %, mean (SD)	8.2 (1.3)	8.0 (1.3)	8.1 (1.3)	8.6 (1.4)

Table 8. Mean HbA1c of patients by depression screen results

p-value = 0.20 by ANOVA

REGRESSION ANALYSIS

SES (MSDI) and mean HbA1c

The relationship between SES and HbA1c, adjusted for age, sex, diabetes duration, pump use, and processes of care was significant (Table 9). The multivariable linear regression model showed that mean HbA1c in the most deprived category was 0.51% higher than the mean HbA1c in the least deprived category (95% CI 0.05, 0.97). The use of insulin pumps was also significantly associated with lower mean HbA1c (adjusted $\beta = -0.55$, 95% CI -0.96, -0.14). Having more than 4 diabetes-related clinic visits in the past year was associated with higher mean HbA1c compared to 3-4 visits (adjusted $\beta = 0.76$, 95% CI 0.04, 1.48).

 Table 9. Multivariable linear regression analysis for the association between SES and

 HbA1c, adjusted for sex, age, duration of diabetes, processes of care, and pump use

Variables	Estimates	95% CI	p-value
Least deprived – Q1+Q2	Reference	Reference	Reference
Moderately deprived Q3	0.05	-0.40, 0.51	0.82
Most deprived – Q4+Q5	0.51	0.05, 0.97	0.03
Sex (female)	0.09	-0.29, 0.48	0.63
Age	0.03	-0.04, 0.09	0.40
Duration of diabetes	-0.01	-0.07, 0.05	0.86
On pump	-0.55	-0.96, -0.14	0.01
MD visits 3-4	Reference	Reference	Reference
MD visits < 3	-0.23	-0.83, 0.37	0.45
MD visits > 4	0.76	0.04, 1.48	0.04

Interaction between SES and insulin pump use, processes of care, depression

The interaction terms between SES and insulin pump status (Table 10), and SES and processes of care (Table 11) were not significant.

Table 10. Multivariable linear regression SES and HbA1c – interaction term between SES and insulin pump

Variables	Estimates	95% CI	p-value
Pump use: NO			
Least deprived – Q1+Q2 (Ref)	Reference	Reference	Reference
Moderately deprived - Q3	0.10	-0.77, 0.98	1.00
Most deprived – Q4+Q5	0.54	-0.28, 1.36	0.41

Pump use: YES					
Least deprived – Q1+Q2 (Ref)	Reference	Reference	Reference		
Moderately deprived - Q3	-0.02	-1.06, 1.02	1.00		
Most deprived $-Q4+Q5$	0.46	-0.75, 1.68	0.88		
MD visits 3-4	Reference	Reference	Reference		
MD visits < 3	-0.23	-0.84, 0.37	0.45		
MD visits > 4	0.77	0.04, 1.50	0.04		
Sex (female)	0.10	-0.29, 0.48	0.62		
Age	0.03	-0.04, 0.09	0.39		
Duration of diabetes	-0.01	-0.07, 0.05	0.83		

Table 11. Multivariable linear regression SES and HbA1c – interaction term between SES
and processes of care

Variables	Estimates	95% CI	p-value
MD visits < 3			
Least deprived $-Q1+Q2$	Reference	Reference	Reference
Moderately deprived - Q3	0.27	-2.17, 2.71	1.00
Most deprived $-Q4+Q5$	1.3	-0.84, 3.36	0.63
MD visits 3-4			
Least deprived $-Q1+Q2$	Reference	Reference	Reference
Moderately deprived - Q3	0.04	-0.75, 0.83	1.00
Most deprived $-Q4+Q5$	0.37	-0.44, 1.19	0.89
MD visits > 4			
Least deprived $-Q1+Q2$	Reference	Reference	Reference
Moderately deprived - Q3	-0.32	-3.29, 2.64	1.00
Most deprived $-Q4+Q5$	0.85	-1.76, 3.47	0.98
On pump	-0.52	-0.95, -0.10	0.02
Sex (female)	0.11	-0.28, 0.49	0.56
Age	0.03	-0.03, 0.09	0.37
Duration of diabetes	-0.01	-0.07, 0.05	0.83

In a subgroup with information on depression screening, the relationship between SES and HbA1c, adjusted for age, sex, diabetes duration, pump use, processes of care, and depression, the multivariable linear regression model showed that HbA1c in the most deprived quintiles was 0.49% higher than the mean HbA1c in the least deprived category (95% CI 0.05, 0.93; Table 12). Insulin pump use was associated with lower HbA1c (adjusted $\beta = -0.54$, 95% CI -0.93, -0.15) and having more than 4 diabetes-related physician visits was associated with higher HbA1c (adjusted $\beta = 0.98$, 95% CI 0.29, 1.67).

The multivariable linear regression model with the interaction term between SES and depression

screen showed no effect modification of depression on HbA1c (Table 13).

Table 12. Multivariable linear regression analysis for the association between SES and HbA1c, adjusted for sex, age, duration of diabetes, processes of care, pump use, and depression

^aLinear regression analysis was done with a subgroup (n=192) that had information on depression screening

Variables	Estimates	95% CI	p-value
Least deprived – Q1+Q2	Reference	Reference	Reference
(Ref)			
Moderately deprived Q3	0.17	-0.27, 0.60	0.45
Most deprived – Q4+Q5	0.49	0.05, 0.93	0.03
Sex (female)	-0.08	-0.44, 0.28	0.67
Age	0.01	-0.05, 0.06	0.86
Duration of diabetes	0.00	-0.06, 0.06	0.97
On pump	-0.54	-0.93, -0.15	0.01
MD visits 3-4	Reference	Reference	Reference
MD visits < 3	-0.11	-0.67, 0.46	0.71
MD visits > 4	0.98	0.29, 1.67	0.01
Positive depression	0.18	-0.21, 0.58	0.36
screen			

Table 13. Multivariable linear regression SES and HbA1c – interaction term between SES and depression

^aLinear regression analysis was done with a subgroup (n=192) that had information on depression screening

Variables	Estimates	95% CI	p-value
Depression: NO			
Least deprived $-Q1+Q2$	Reference	Reference	Reference
Moderately deprived Q3	0.14	-0.63, 0.91	1.00
Most deprived – Q4+Q5	0.56	-0.18, 1.30	0.26
Depression: YES			
Least deprived $-Q1+Q2$	Reference	Reference	Reference
Moderately deprived Q3	0.22	-0.91, 1.36	0.99
Most deprived – Q4+Q5	0.27	-0.99, 1.54	0.99
On pump	-0.54	-0.93, -0.15	0.01
MD visits 3-4	Reference	Reference	Reference
MD visits < 3	-0.11	-0.68, 0.46	0.71
MD visits > 4	1.02	0.32, 1.73	<0.01
Sex (female)	-0.07	-0.44, 0.30	0.71
Age	0.00	-0.06, 0.06	0.96

Duration of diabetes	0.00	-0.05, 0.06	0.90
-----------------------------	------	-------------	------

Ethnicity and HbA1c

In a subgroup of patients that had reported ethnicity, mean HbA1c was higher in patients in racialized groups compared to those in non-racialized groups (adjusted $\beta = 0.70$, 95% CI 0.21,1.18), controlling for SES, age, sex, diabetes duration, insulin pump use, and processes of care.

Table 14. Multivariable linear regression of ethnicity and HbA1c, adjusted for sex, age,	
duration of diabetes, and SES	

Variables	Estimates	95% CI	p-value
Least deprived – Q1+Q2	Reference	Reference	Reference
Moderately deprived - Q3	0.03	-0.42, 0.48	0.90
Most deprived - Q4+Q5	0.23	-0.24, 0.70	0.33
Sex (female)	0.01	-0.38, 0.39	0.98
Age	0.01	-0.05, 0.08	0.71
Duration of diabetes	0.00	-0.06, 0.06	0.97
Racialized	0.70	0.21, 1.18	0.01
On pump	-0.44	-0.84, -0.04	0.03
MD visits 3-4	Reference	Reference	Reference
MD visits < 3	-0.22	-0.82, 0.39	0.48
MD visits > 4	1.13	0.37, 1.90	<0.01

Immigration and HbA1c

In the adjusted regression analysis (Table 15), in the groups where both children and their parents were immigrants, the mean HbA1c was 0.28% lower compared to the group consisting of non-immigrant parent and child, however, this effect was not significant (95% CI -1.22, 0.66). Non-immigrant children with parents who were immigrants had a mean HbA1c of 0.54% higher compared to non-immigrant parents and children, this effect was also not significant (95% CI - 0.39,1.47).

Table 15. Multivariable linear regression analysis examining association of immigrationstatus with HbA1c

Predictors	Estimates	95% CI	p-value
Least deprived – Q1+Q2	Reference	Reference	Reference
Moderately deprived - Q3	0.27	-0.38,0.92	0.41
Most deprived – Q4+Q5	0.25	-0.36,0.87	0.41
Sex (female)	-0.29	-0.84,0.26	0.29
Age	0.02	-0.07,0.11	0.70
Duration of diabetes	-0.01	-0.09,0.07	0.83
Non-immigrant parent & patient	Reference	Reference	Reference
Immigrant Parent & Patient	-0.28	-1.22,0.66	0.55
Immigrant Parent & non- immigrant patient	0.54	-0.39,1.47	0.25
On pump	-0.61	-1.17, -0.04	0.04
MD visits 3-4	Reference	Reference	Reference
MD visits < 3	-0.10	-0.97,0.77	0.82
MD visits > 4	1.04	0.14, 1.94	0.02

Sensitivity analysis: SES MEASURED BY THE CIMD

After linking the PCCF to CIMD quintiles, 4 patients were excluded for a postal code that was not assigned a quintile; a deprivation quintile was determined for a total of 208 patients.

Patient characteristics

Patients had a mean (SD) age of 13.5 (3.5) years and mean (SD) diabetes duration of 4.9 (3.8) years; 53.4% were male and 37.5% were on an insulin pump. The mean number of diabetes-related physician visits in the year before the index visit was 3.8 (\pm 0.9). The mean (SD) HbA1c was 8.3% (1.4%) and 29.8% had a mean HbA1c below 7.5%. The patient characteristics by quintile in each dimension of the CIMD are presented in Table 16-19.

Table 16. Patient characteristics: residential instability dimension*Count less than 5

	Total = 208	Q1+Q2	Q3	Q4+Q5	p-
		N=107	N=32	N=69	value
Age (years), mean (SD)	13.5 (3.5)	14.0 (3.3)	13.6 (2.9)	12.8 (3.9)	0.10
Sex (male), <i>n</i> (%)	111 (53.4)	57 (53.3)	13 (40.6)	41 (59.4)	0.21
Duration of diabetes (years), <i>mean (SD)</i>	4.9 (3.8)	5.3 (4.0)	5.0 (3.5)	4.4 (3.7)	0.33
Insulin pump (yes), <i>n</i> (%)	78 (37.5)	42 (39.3)	14 (43.8)	22 (31.9)	0.45
# of MD clinic visits over the past 12 months, <i>mean (SD)</i>	3.8 (0.9)	3.7 (0.9)	3.7 (0.7)	3.9 (0.9)	0.18
# MD visits, <i>n</i> (%)					0.29
< 3 visits, n (%)	10 (4.8)	*	*	*	
3-4 visits, n (%)	173 (83.2)	92 (86.0)	28 (87.5)	53 (76.8)	
> 4 visits, n (%)	25 (12.0)	10 (9.3)	*	13 (18.8)	
HbA1c %, mean (SD)	8.3 (1.4)	8.1(1.2)	8.4(1.3)	8.6(1.6)	0.13
HbA1c \leq 7.5, <i>n</i> (%)	62 (29.8)	38 (35.5)	8 (25.0)	16 (23.2)	0.18

Table 17. Patient characteristics: situational vulnerability*Count less than 5

	Total = 208	Q1+Q2	Q3	Q4+Q5	p-value
		N=126	N=30	N=52	_
Age (years), mean (SD)	13.5 (3.5)	14.0 (3.1)	13.2 (4.1)	12.5 (3.8)	0.03
Sex (male), <i>n</i> (%)	111 (53.4)	67 (53.2)	17 (56.7)	27 (51.9)	0.92
Duration of diabetes	4.9 (3.8)	5.0 (4.0)	5.1 (3.7)	4.6 (3.6)	0.72
(years), mean (SD)					
Insulin pump (yes), n (%)	78 (37.5)	54 (42.9)	10 (33.3)	14 (26.9)	0.12
# of MD clinic visits over the past 12 months, <i>mean</i> (SD)	3.8 (0.9)	3.8 (0.8)	3.6 (0.9)	3.9 (1.0)	0.30
# MD visits, n (%)					0.71
< 3 visits, <i>n</i> (%)	10 (4.8)	*	*	*	
3-4 visits , <i>n</i> (%)	173 (83.2)	107 (84.9)	26 (86.7)	40 (76.9)	
> 4 visits, <i>n</i> (%)	25 (12.0)	14 (11.1)	*	8 (15.4)	
HbA1c %, mean (SD)	8.3 (1.4)	8.1(1.3)	8.5(1.2)	8.7(1.5)	0.02
HbA1c \leq 7.5, n (%)	62 (29.8)	43 (34.1)	9 (30.0)	10 (19.2)	0.14

Table 18. Patient characteristics: economic dependency*Count less than 5

	Total = 208	Q1+Q2	Q3	Q4+Q5	p-value
		N=117	N=38	N=53	
Age (years), mean (SD)	13.5 (3.5)	13.6 (3.3)	13.3 (3.8)	13.5 (3.8)	0.91
Sex (male), <i>n</i> (%)	111 (53.4)	60 (51.3)	17 (44.7)	34 (64.2)	0.15
Duration of diabetes (years), <i>mean (SD)</i>	4.9 (3.8)	4.8 (3.9)	5.6 (3.9)	4.7 (4.1)	0.47
Insulin pump (yes), <i>n</i> (%)	78 (37.5)	48 (41.0)	14 (36.8)	16 (30.2)	0.40
# of MD clinic visits over the past 12 months, <i>mean</i> (SD)	3.8 (0.9)	3.7 (0.8)	4.1 (1.2)	3.7 (0.7)	0.05
# MD visits, <i>n</i> (%)					0.10
< 3 visits, <i>n</i> (%)	10 (4.8)	*	*	*	
3-4 visits, <i>n</i> (%)	173 (81.2)	102 (87.2)	26 (66.6)	45 (84.9)	
> 4 visits, n (%)	25 (12.0)	11 (9.4)	9 (23.1)	5 (9.4)	
HbA1c %, mean (SD)	8.3 (1.4)	8.2(1.4)	8.5(1.3)	8.5(1.5)	0.02
HbA1c \leq 7.5, n (%)	62 (29.8)	40 (34.2)	9 (23.7)	13 (24.5)	0.29

Table 19. Patient characteristics: ethnocultural composition*Count less than 5

	Total = 208	Q1+Q2	Q3	Q4+Q5	p-value
		N=19	N=31	N=158	
Age (years), mean (SD)	13.5 (3.5)	13.3 (2.8)	13.2 (3.9)	13.6 (3.5)	0.85
Sex (male), <i>n</i> (%)	111 (53.4)	9 (47.4)	15 (48.4)	87 (55.1)	0.68
Duration of diabetes	4.9 (3.8)	5.1 (4.1)	5.6 (3.6)	4.8 (3.9)	0.53
(years), mean (SD)					
Insulin pump (yes), n (%)	78 (37.5)	9 (47.4)	13 (41.9)	56 (35.4)	0.63
# of MD clinic visits over	3.8 (0.9)	3.7 (0.8)	3.6 (0.7)	3.8 (0.9)	0.51
the past 12 months, <i>mean</i> (SD)					
# MD visits, <i>n</i> (%)					0.55
< 3 visits, <i>n</i> (%)	10 (4.8)	*	*	6 (3.8)	
3-4 visits , <i>n</i> (%)	173 (83.2)	15 (78.9)	27 (87.1)	131 (82.9)	
> 4 visits, n (%)	25 (12.0)	*	*	21 (13.3)	
HbA1c %, mean (SD)	8.3 (1.4)	9.0(1.6)	7.9(1.3)	8.3(1.3)	0.03
HbA1c \leq 7.5, <i>n</i> (%)	62 (29.8)	*	11 (35.5)	48 (30.4)	0.32

Regression analysis

A higher mean HbA1c was seen in higher levels of deprivation in measures of situational vulnerability; patients in the most deprived quintiles had a mean HbA1c 0.56% higher than patients in the least deprived quintiles (95% CI 0.12,1.00). The effect of deprivation in measures of economic dependency and residential instability was not significant (Table 20). Deprivation in the ethnocultural composition dimension was associated with a lower mean HbA1c; patients in the moderately diverse quintile (Q3) had a mean HbA1c 1.11% lower compared to the least deprived (95% CI -1.86, -0.35) and patients in the most diverse quintiles had a mean HbA1c 0.84% lower compared to the least deprived (95% CI -1.47, -0.21).

Table 20. Multivariable linear regression analysis examining association of SES with
HbA1c by each dimension of the CIMD

	Residential i	nstability		Situational V	ulnerability		Economic D	ependency		Ethnocultura	al composition	
Variables	Estimates	95% CI	p- value	Estimates	95% CI	p- value	Estimates	95% CI	p- value	Estimates	95% CI	p- value
Least deprived – Q1+Q2	Reference	-	-	Reference	-	-	Reference	-	-	Reference	-	-
Moderately deprived Q3	0.31	-0.22, 0.84	0.25	0.33	-0.21, 0.86	0.23	0.22	-0.28, 0.72	0.39	-1.11	-1.86, -0.35	<0.01
Most deprived – Q4+Q5	0.34	-0.08, 0.75	0.11	0.56	0.12, 1.00	0.01	0.31	-0.13, 0.75	0.17	-0.84	-1.47, - 0.21	0.01
Sex (female)	0.09	-0.29, 0.46	0.65	0.09	-0.28, 0.45	0.64	0.10	-0.27, 0.47	0.59	0.07	-0.29, 0.43	0.70
Age	0.02	-0.04, 0.08	0.57	0.03	-0.03, 0.09	0.39	0.01	-0.05, 0.08	0.66	0.01	-0.05, 0.07	0.70
Duration of diabetes	0.00	-0.05, 0.06	0.89	-0.00	-0.06, 0.05	0.90	0.00	-0.06, 0.06	0.98	0.01	-0.05, 0.06	0.86
On pump	-0.55	-0.95, -0.15	0.01	-0.48	-0.88, -0.08	0.02	-0.52	-0.92, -0.12	0.01	-0.58	-0.98, -0.19	<0.01
MD visits 3-4	Reference	-	-	Reference	-	-	Reference	-	-	Reference	-	-
MD visits < 3	-0.54	-1.40, 0.32	0.22	-0.60	-1.46, 0.25	0.17	-0.58	-1.44, 0.29	0.19	-0.61	-1.46, 0.24	0.16
MD visits > 4	0.72	0.15, 1.29	0.01	0.74	0.17, 1.30	0.01	0.75	0.17, 1.32	0.01	0.75	0.20, 1.31	0.01

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS – Insulin pump use

When we defined insulin pump use as being on a pump at the index visit for at least 6 months, and at least 50% of the visits, the interaction term remained nonsignificant (Appendix 3).

4.5 Discussion

Material and Social Deprivation and Situational Vulnerability

The current study evaluated the effect of SES on glycemic control using two comprehensive area-level measures of deprivation. Our findings demonstrate differences in glycemic control between levels of deprivation using the MSDI, as well as the CIMD dimensions of situational vulnerability and ethnocultural composition of the CIMD. Children in the most deprived quintiles had higher mean HbA1c compared to children in the least deprived quintiles with the MSDI and on the CIMD dimension of situational vulnerability but not economic dependency and residential instability; the constructs that were measured may not be associated with diabetes outcomes in this sample. In addition, the moderately and most deprived (diverse) quintiles of ethnocultural compositions were associated with lower HbA1c compared to the lowest deprived quintiles.

The overall results of this study are consistent with findings reported of SES and glycemic control in children with T1D.⁶⁰ One study that measured SES by household income found that children (<17 years) from lower SES had a higher mean HbA1c (8.55%, 95% CI 8.45,8.65%) compared to individuals from higher SES (7.20%, 95% CI 6.75, 7.65%) despite universal financial coverage for health care.^{48,60} The retrospective cohort study only measured one dimension of deprivation (household income), which does not reflect all relevant aspects of deprivation. Also, the analysis did not account for other confounding factors such as use of insulin pumps and access to care. In the present study, the use of the MSDI creates a comprehensive measure of SES that accounts for multiple aspects of deprivation including but not limited to household income. Furthermore, we were able to demonstrate the effect of SES on HbA1c adjusting for insulin pump use, an important factor to consider for the observed effect. This replicated findings from other Canadian data of 854 children with T1D that also reported an association between greater compared to lower levels of deprivation and poorer glycemic control (0.27%, p=0.04) after adjusting for insulin pump use, in a cohort where patients had a median number of 3 diabetes-related clinic visits.⁴⁸ This was a retrospective cohort study of children living with T1D followed from August 2010 to August 2011 using the MSDI and the CIMD's ethnocultural composition dimension. Our study contributes to up-to-date evidence of the association between SES and glycemic control using recent Census data.

Effect modification by pump use

We observed overall that children who used an insulin pump had significantly lower mean HbA1c regardless of deprivation quintile. We hypothesized that the use of an insulin pump would modify the effect of SES on mean HbA1c. However, the interaction term was not significant.

Previous studies have found insulin pump use to be an important factor for glycemic control in children of low SES.^{48,66} For example, Zuijdwijk et al.'s study mentioned above also found that insulin pump use modified the effect of SES on mean HbA1c, and was associated with lower HbA1c for children in the most deprived quintiles compared to being off the pump.⁴⁸ Also, Senniapan et al. found that among those who used an insulin pump, there was no significant increase in mean HbA1c for children with parents with the lowest level of education compared to patients of the highest education level.⁶⁶ The authors concluded that those who generally have suboptimal glycemic control could benefit the most from the use of insulin pumps.

In our analysis, we were able to evaluate how insulin pump use modifies the relationship between SES and glycemic control. Although low SES children who were on an insulin pump had better glycemic control compared to those who were not, they were also underrepresented among those who were on an insulin pump. Even with universal funding for pumps, SES disparities persist suggesting that there are factors beyond financial barriers that affect pump use among individuals of low SES which could include aspects related to community support or specific lifestyle constraints. Further investigation is needed to first address these disparities in insulin pump use and determine which other factors could contribute to the effect of insulin pump therapy among children of low SES.

Effect modification by processes of care

We hypothesized that having at least 3-4 physician visits in the past year, an indication of adherence to guidelines, would modify the effect of SES on mean HbA1c. However, we found no significant association between the interaction of SES with the number of physician visits and

mean HbA1c. Our data also showed that there was no significant difference in mean HbA1c between children with less than 3 diabetes-related clinic visits in the past year, those with 3 or 4, and those with more than 4. However, adjusted multivariable linear regression showed that having more than 4 visits was significantly associated with a higher HbA1c.

An older cohort study of children and adolescents with T1D found that continuous follow-ups (having at least one diabetes-related clinic visit per year during the 2-4 years of follow up) was associated with improved glycemic control compared to irregular follow ups which was defined as failing to have at least one diabetes-related clinic visit during the 2-4 years of follow up.⁷⁹ In addition, a 2014 retrospective longitudinal cohort study of youth with T1D also reported that children with Medicaid, indicative of low SES in the U.S., were more likely to have worsened glycemic control and also had fewer visits and HbA1c tests.⁶⁷ However, insulin regimen was not accounted for in the analysis.

Our study addressed the interaction between processes of care and SES on glycemic control in the context of Quebec's health care system and we examined whether children who have regular checkups, which entails more opportunities to discuss treatment plans, HbA1c measurements, and screening for complications, have better glycemic control. Although frequent follow-ups have been shown to improve glycemic control, our data showed that having more than 4 visits was significantly associated with higher mean HbA1c which may reflect children who have suboptimal glycemic control and are monitored more frequently. Urbach et al. reported similar results in a cross-sectional study of children with T1D where children who attended diabetes clinic more than five times in the previous year had significantly higher HbA1c levels compared to those who had three or four visits (95% CI 0.23,1.20).⁸⁰ Contrary to these findings, we did not observe a significant difference between those who had less than 3 visits and those who had 3-4 visits, largely due to the small group size with less than 3 visits.

Effect modification by depression symptoms

Based on previous studies, we hypothesized that children in the least deprived quintiles who also screened positive for depression would have worse glycemic control, which would emphasize the importance of screening for mental health and implementation of strategies to address the issue in children with T1D. We found that the interaction between SES and depressive symptoms was not significant in our cohort.

Walker et al. found that youth of lower SES often lacked resources for social support and therefore may be at a greater risk of experiencing mental health issues such as depression and isolation that hinder effective glycemic control.⁸¹ In a cross-sectional study of children aged 8-17 years, Hassan et al. reported that depression was more likely among children with poor glycemic control and that children of low SES were most at risk of poor glycemic control.⁸²

Our study evaluated the effect of depressive symptoms on glycemic control through an interaction, in children who were followed for a year. We did not observe a significant effect modification in our sample which may be due to the small number of children in the low SES group, and different stressors may affect both children of low and high SES making them susceptible to experience depressive symptoms. Also, the PHQ-2 is a screening tool for depressive symptoms in the preceding two weeks; it is possible that the full range of depressive symptoms that may affect diabetes management and outcomes was not captured.

Ethnicity and HbA1c

We observed ethnic disparities in glycemic control in the sample which is consistent with previous studies in the U.S. and UK that have found ethnic/racial disparities in treatment and outcomes. Specifically, we observed that racialized groups had worse glycemic control compared to non-racialized groups.

In a retrospective cohort study of children (<18 years), Lipman et al. found that Non-Hispanic Black patients had higher HbA1c levels (9.4%) compared to Non-Hispanic White patients (8.6%, p<0.001) and that this difference persisted within insurance groups.⁶² Racialized individuals had higher mean HbA1c compared to non-racialized individuals when adjusting for SES. The observed differences are likely due to structural and social determinants of health rather than biological differences. Results of structural racism, differential use of resources and social support are factors that contribute to racial and ethnic disparities in health outcomes.^{65,83} Thompson et al. found that HbA1c was associated with ethnicity rather than deprivation, which may be explained by the mode of insulin therapy between ethnic groups.³² This supports the need for addressing differences in outcomes by understanding barriers that disproportionally affect racialized groups⁸³ as well understanding the views and needs of different ethnic groups concerning health care and disease management.

Our study reports an important finding of existing ethnic and racial disparities in children with T1D considering limited Canadian studies that have addressed them. These findings are important to develop policies and interventions aimed at addressing structural racism in health care.

Ethnicity, ethnocultural composition and HbA1c

We found that ethnocultural composition was associated with lower HbA1c levels in moderately and most deprived (diverse) quintiles. With the ethnocultural composition being an indication of the concentration of ethnic minorities in each DA's, this finding suggests that we may observe better glycemic control in children from areas with a higher concentration of minorities and immigrant family dwellings. Contrary to our result that racialized groups have worse glycemic control, where self-reported ethnicity is an individual-level measure, a neighbourhood-level measurement of ethnocultural composition highlights a different aspect of social determinants of health. Our finding that more diverse ethnocultural composition is associated with lower HbA1c could be explained by the positive impact of neighbourhood diversity and social cohesion on health outcomes.

Studies in Canada and the UK have addressed the question of ethnic density and children's overall health to determine whether the health of children is influenced by living around people with similar ethnic backgrounds but results are inconsistent as this association differs by ethnicity, gender, and ethnic concentration. ^{84,85,86,87}

Limitations

There were several limitations to this study. First, the use of clinical data from March 2020, during restrictions related to the COVID-19 pandemic resulted in many appointments to be cancelled or held via telephone which prevented HbA1c to be measured for some subjects included in the study. Consequently, children included did not have the same number of HbA1c measurements during the study period. Another limitation is the use of a population-level measure to measure individual SES; DAs are heterogeneous and may not accurately represent the level of deprivation of each household in one specific area. Nonetheless, area-level deprivation has been a useful and accurate measure in previous studies that have demonstrated health inequalities.⁸⁸ Furthermore, measures of deprivation were based on data from the 2016 Canadian Census and therefore do not provide an up-to-date representation of levels of deprivation in the areas determined by the postal codes obtained during the study period. In addition, we did not include the use of CGM systems as a variable in our analyses as our study overlapped with a period where government financial coverage for CGM systems was not standardized as such CGM access was inconsistent during our study period. Another limitation is the optional self-identification of ethnicity and immigration status in our subgroup, which lead to a smaller sample size for this subgroup; we may not have captured the full effect of these variables.

4.6 Conclusion

There is substantial evidence that health outcomes in children with T1D are affected by socioeconomic and ethnic disparities. Further studies are needed to determine drivers of these inequalities within health care and determine factors that help diminish them. For example, community health workers or patient navigators have shown promise in addressing health disparities in chronic conditions which should be further explored in a Canadian health care system. Also, there are opportunities to examine the different health impacts of neighborhood-level ethnic composition on racialized communities.

5 Discussion

Restatement of objectives and summary of findings

This thesis mainly focused on examining the question of health disparities in children with T1D in Montreal, by first looking at SES and glycemic control with the use of a validated index, assessing modifiers of this relationship, and examining ethnic disparities in glycemic control as well as differences by immigration status. The primary objective sought to determine the association between SES and glycemic control. The secondary objectives sought to determine whether insulin pump use, processes of care, and depression modified the relationship between SES and mean HbA1c. As part of the secondary objectives, we also sought to determine the association between ethnicity, immigration and HbA1c.

Chapter 4 addressed the objectives of this thesis and suggested that low SES is associated with higher HbA1c and that effect modification by insulin pump use, processes of care, and depression was not significant. Additionally, ethnic disparities were evident in the sample; racialized groups had higher HbA1c compared to non-racialized groups. We also observed that higher ethnocultural composition was associated with lower HbA1c.

Summary of contribution and directions for future research

Health inequalities are attributable to differences in structural and social determinants of health (SDOH), that dictate individuals' opportunities to manage health conditions such as T1D. Numerous studies have demonstrated that socioeconomic status and ethnicity are associated with poor glycemic control. Few studies investigated this question while considering the Canadian health care system. Furthermore, few Canadian studies have sought to determine variables that interact with these SDOH and modify their effect on health outcomes. Through a retrospective cohort study using a patient database from the Montreal Children's Hospital in Montreal, we were able to evaluate health disparities in children aged 0 to 18 years by examining the association of SES with mean HbA1c, effect modification by insulin pump use, processes of care, and depression, as well as the effect of ethnicity and immigration status on glycemic control. This research calls attention to the impact of differences in social determinants on health outcomes given the Canadian health care system and the importance of addressing factors beyond individual characteristics that can affect T1D diabetes and outcomes.⁶⁵ The management of chronic diseases such as T1D can be costly and require access to additional resources and supports that may be difficult to obtain among families of low SES, even with financial coverage for available technologies. The findings help to highlight potential social barriers that contribute to differential access to care, technology uptake, and delivery of care such as implicit bias from health care professionals towards specific groups of patients. For example, the smaller proportion of low SES individuals using an insulin pump is a possible result of prescribing bias and health care provider bias, which can also affect individuals of racialized communities.

In chapter 4, we determined that children of lower SES had worse glycemic control and the use of insulin pumps did not modify this association, despite the availability of government reimbursement programs in Quebec. Although insulin pump use is more common in regions with funding programs, socioeconomic and ethnic disparities exist between users and non-users.⁸⁹ It is necessary to determine factors that affect the uptake of technologies such as specific lifestyles and cultural differences, to explore ways that healthcare professionals can address specific needs and views on disease management, and to address biases by health care providers in regard to offering insulin pumps to children of low SES and of racialized groups.

In addition to technology use, mental health factors may also play a role in differences seen in diabetes health outcomes. We investigated whether screening positive for depression put children of low SES at a greater risk of poor glycemic control compared to children of high SES; an interaction between SES and depression screen was not found in our sample. Further studies could identify differences in symptom severity, management of symptoms and access to mental health resources across SES groups and determine the impact of these factors on disparities in health outcomes.

Furthermore, we determined that ethnicity was associated with worse glycemic control while the ethnocultural composition was associated with better glycemic control. This suggests the need to examine the impact of neighbourhood and community on the health of racialized populations; racially diverse areas may benefit racialized groups through increased social cohesion and availability of resources and community programs.

Future research should explore ways to better address structural and SDOH in diabetes care that contribute to inequitable outcomes in T1D. For example, community health workers or patient

navigators have shown promise in addressing health disparities in chronic conditions. Community health workers or patient navigators act as a connection for families between medical, social, and community services, and support families by helping improving adherence and access to treatments, reducing food and housing insecurity, and improving health literacy. A pilot randomized controlled trial is currently underway in the U.S. to determine the effect of community health workers on HbA1c and health services utilization among T1D children.⁹⁰ Such roles have yet to be integrated into diabetes care teams in Canada.

Limitations

There were several limitations to acknowledge. First, population-level data was used to estimate SES as opposed to using individual-level data. However, the MSDI and CIMD are standard methods of measuring health inequalities in Canadian data. Also, we were not able to capture the full effect of ethnicity, immigration status, and depression in the sample because reporting this information was optional for families. Due to the pandemic, different modes of health care delivery (i.e. more virtual visits) resulted in missing HbA1c measurements for some subjects included in the study, consequently children included did not have the same number of HbA1c measurements during the study period.

Conclusion

In conclusion, the thesis highlighted existing health disparities in diabetes outcomes for children with T1D, aged 0 to 18 years living in Montreal. The thesis showed the association between SES and glycemic control and that children of low SES have significantly higher mean HbA1c compared to children of high SES. Further studies are needed to investigate factors that contribute to these inequalities in this population to develop interventions that may address them.

6 REFERENCES

1. Atkinson MA, Eisenbarth GS, Michels AW. Type 1 diabetes. *The Lancet*. 2014;383(9911):69-82. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60591-7

- Maahs DM, West NA, Lawrence JM, Mayer-Davis EJ. Chapter 1: Epidemiology of Type 1 Diabetes. *Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am.* 2010;39(3):481-497. doi:10.1016/j.ecl.2010.05.011
- Duca LM, Wang B, Rewers M, Rewers A. Diabetic Ketoacidosis at Diagnosis of Type 1 Diabetes Predicts Poor Long-term Glycemic Control. *Diabetes Care*. 2017;40(9):1249-1255. doi:10.2337/dc17-0558
- 4. Mayer-Davis EJ, Kahkoska AR, Jefferies C, et al. ISPAD Clinical Practice Consensus Guidelines 2018: Definition, epidemiology, and classification of diabetes in children and adolescents. *Pediatr Diabetes*. 2018;19:7-19. doi:10.1111/pedi.12773
- 5. Ogle GD, James S, Dabelea D, et al. Global estimates of incidence of type 1 diabetes in children and adolescents: Results from the International Diabetes Federation Atlas, 10th edition. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract*. 2022;183. doi:10.1016/j.diabres.2021.109083
- 6. Group TDP. Incidence and trends of childhood Type 1 diabetes worldwide 1990–1999. *Diabet Med.* 2006;23(8):857-866. doi:10.1111/j.1464-5491.2006.01925.x
- 7. Hamman RF, Bell RA, Dabelea D, et al. The SEARCH for Diabetes in Youth Study: Rationale, Findings, and Future Directions. *Diabetes Care*. 2014;37(12):3336-3344. doi:10.2337/dc14-0574
- 8. Dabelea D, Mayer-Davis EJ, Saydah S, et al. Prevalence of Type 1 and Type 2 Diabetes Among Children and Adolescents From 2001 to 2009. *JAMA*. 2014;311(17):1778-1786. doi:10.1001/jama.2014.3201
- 9. International Diabetes Federation. IDF Diabetes Atlas, 7th edn. Brussels, Belgium: 2015. Available at: <u>https://www.diabetesatlas.org</u>
- Fox DA, Islam N, Sutherland J, Reimer K, Amed S. Type 1 diabetes incidence and prevalence trends in a cohort of Canadian children and youth. *Pediatr Diabetes*. 2018;19(3):501-505. doi:10.1111/pedi.12566
- 11. Cohen A, Mok E, Simard M, et al. Increasing Incidence of Type 1 and Type 2 Diabetes Among Canadian Children. *Can J Diabetes*. Published online August 21, 2021. doi:10.1016/j.jcjd.2021.08.006
- 12. Usher-Smith JA, Thompson M, Ercole A, Walter FM. Variation between countries in the frequency of diabetic ketoacidosis at first presentation of type 1 diabetes in children: a systematic review. *Diabetologia*. 2012;55(11):2878-2894. doi:10.1007/s00125-012-2690-2
- Wolfsdorf JI, Glaser N, Agus M, et al. ISPAD Clinical Practice Consensus Guidelines 2018: Diabetic ketoacidosis and the hyperglycemic hyperosmolar state. *Pediatr Diabetes*. 2018;19:155-177. doi:10.1111/pedi.12701

- 14. Jensen ET, Stafford JM, Saydah S, et al. Increase in Prevalence of Diabetic Ketoacidosis at Diagnosis Among Youth With Type 1 Diabetes: The SEARCH for Diabetes in Youth Study. *Diabetes Care*. 2021;44(7):1573-1578. doi:10.2337/dc20-0389
- Robinson ME, Li P, Rahme E, Simard M, Larocque I, Nakhla MM. Increasing prevalence of diabetic ketoacidosis at diabetes diagnosis among children in Quebec: a populationbased retrospective cohort study. *CMAJ Open*. 2019;7(2):E300-E305. doi:10.9778/cmajo.20190047
- Rosenbauer J, Dost A, Karges B, et al. Improved Metabolic Control in Children and Adolescents With Type 1 Diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2012;35(1):80-86. doi:10.2337/dc11-0993
- Maxwell AR, Yayah Jones NH, Taylor S, et al. Socioeconomic and Racial Disparities in Diabetic Ketoacidosis Admissions in Youth With Type 1 Diabetes. *J Hosp Med*. 2021;(2021-August ONLINE 1st). doi:10.12788/jhm.3664
- 18. Ampt A, Gemert T van, Craig ME, Donaghue KC, Lain SB, Nassar N. Using population data to understand the epidemiology and risk factors for diabetic ketoacidosis in Australian children with type 1 diabetes. *Pediatr Diabetes*. 2019;20(7):901-908. doi:10.1111/pedi.12891
- 19. Intensive Diabetes Treatment and Cardiovascular Disease in Patients with Type 1 Diabetes. *N Engl J Med.* 2005;353(25):2643-2653. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa052187
- Danne T, Phillip M, Buckingham BA, et al. ISPAD Clinical Practice Consensus Guidelines 2018: Insulin treatment in children and adolescents with diabetes. *Pediatr Diabetes*. 2018;19:115-135. doi:10.1111/pedi.12718
- DeSalvo DJ, Miller KM, Hermann JM, et al. Continuous glucose monitoring and glycemic control among youth with type 1 diabetes: International comparison from the T1D Exchange and DPV Initiative. *Pediatr Diabetes*. 2018;19(7):1271-1275. doi:10.1111/pedi.12711
- 22. Pickup JC. Insulin-pump therapy for type 1 diabetes mellitus. *N Engl J Med*. 2012;366(17):1616-1624. doi:10.1056/NEJMct1113948
- 23. Skogsberg L, Fors H, Hanas R, Chaplin J, Lindman E, Skogsberg J. Improved treatment satisfaction but no difference in metabolic control when using continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion vs. multiple daily injections in children at onset of type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Pediatr Diabetes*. 2008;9(5):472-479. doi:10.1111/j.1399-5448.2008.00390.x
- 24. Sullivan-Bolyai S, Knafl K, Tamborlane W, Grey M. Parents' Reflections on Managing Their Children's Diabetes With Insulin Pumps. *J Nurs Scholarsh*. 2004;36(4):316-323. doi:10.1111/j.1547-5069.2004.04058.x

- 25. Blackman SM, Raghinaru D, Adi S, et al. Insulin pump use in young children in the T1D Exchange clinic registry is associated with lower hemoglobin A1c levels than injection therapy. *Pediatr Diabetes*. 2014;15(8):564-572. doi:10.1111/pedi.12121
- 26. Paris CA, Imperatore G, Klingensmith G, et al. Predictors of Insulin Regimens and Impact on Outcomes in Youth with Type 1 Diabetes: The SEARCH for Diabetes in Youth Study. J Pediatr. 2009;155(2):183-189.e1. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2009.01.063
- 27. Hennessy LD, De Lange M, Wiltshire EJ, Jefferies C, Wheeler BJ. Youth and non-European ethnicity are associated with increased loss of publicly funded insulin pump access in New Zealand people with type 1 diabetes. *Diabet Med.* 2021;38(1):e14450. doi:10.1111/dme.14450
- Insulin-Pump Therapy for Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus | NEJM. New England Journal of Medicine. Accessed November 26, 2021. http://www.nejm.org/doi/10.1056/NEJMct1113948
- 29. Shulman R, Stukel TA, Miller FA, Newman A, Daneman D, Guttmann A. Insulin pump use and discontinuation in children and teens: a population-based cohort study in Ontario, Canada. *Pediatr Diabetes*. 2017;18(1):33-44. doi:10.1111/pedi.12353
- 30. Insulin Pump Access Program. Accessed May 29, 2021. https://www.quebec.ca/en/health/health-issues/a-z/diabetes/insulin-pump-access-program
- DeSalvo DJ, Noor N, Xie C, et al. Patient Demographics and Clinical Outcomes Among Type 1 Diabetes Patients Using Continuous Glucose Monitors: Data From T1D Exchange Real-World Observational Study. *J Diabetes Sci Technol*. Published online October 9, 2021:19322968211049784. doi:10.1177/19322968211049783
- 32. Thompson RJ, Agostini K, Potts L, et al. Deprivation and ethnicity impact on diabetes control and use of treatment regimen. *Diabet Med*. 2013;30(4):491-494. doi:10.1111/dme.12023
- Everett EM, Wisk LE. Relationships Between Socioeconomic Status, Insurance Coverage for Diabetes Technology and Adverse Health in Patients With Type 1 Diabetes. *J Diabetes Sci Technol*. Published online October 9, 2021:19322968211050650. doi:10.1177/19322968211050649
- 34. Diabetes Control and Complications Trial Research Group, Nathan DM, Genuth S, et al. The effect of intensive treatment of diabetes on the development and progression of longterm complications in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *N Engl J Med.* 1993;329(14):977-986. doi:10.1056/NEJM199309303291401
- 35. Libby P, Nathan DM, Abraham K, et al. Report of the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute-National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases Working Group on Cardiovascular Complications of Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus. *Circulation*. 2005;111(25):3489-3493. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.104.529651

- 36. Wherrett DK. Clinical Practice Guidelines: Type 1 Diabetes In Children and Adolescents: Published online 2018. doi:10.1037/e509522012-001
- Amed S, Nuernberger K, McCrea P, et al. Adherence to Clinical Practice Guidelines in the Management of Children, Youth, and Young Adults with Type 1 Diabetes—A Prospective Population Cohort Study. *J Pediatr*. 2013;163(2):543-548.e1. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2013.01.070
- 38. DiMeglio LA, Acerini CL, Codner E, et al. ISPAD Clinical Practice Consensus Guidelines 2018: Glycemic control targets and glucose monitoring for children, adolescents, and young adults with diabetes. *Pediatr Diabetes*. 2018;19:105-114. doi:10.1111/pedi.12737
- Clarke ABM, Ahsan H, Harrington J, Mahmud FH. Assessing Allied Health-Care Professional Time in Pediatric Type 1 Diabetes: Associations With Clinical Factors, Technology and Social Determinants. *Can J Diabetes*. 2020;44(5):387-393. doi:10.1016/j.jcjd.2019.11.004
- 40. Ehrmann D, Kulzer B, Roos T, Haak T, Al-Khatib M, Hermanns N. Risk factors and prevention strategies for diabetic ketoacidosis in people with established type 1 diabetes. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* 2020;8(5):436-446. doi:10.1016/S2213-8587(20)30042-5
- 41. Maahs DM, Hermann JM, Holman N, et al. Rates of Diabetic Ketoacidosis: International Comparison With 49,859 Pediatric Patients With Type 1 Diabetes From England, Wales, the U.S., Austria, and Germany. *Diabetes Care*. 2015;38(10):1876-1882. doi:10.2337/dc15-0780
- 42. Gibb FW, Teoh WL, Graham J, Lockman KA. Risk of death following admission to a UK hospital with diabetic ketoacidosis. *Diabetologia*. 2016;59(10):2082-2087. doi:10.1007/s00125-016-4034-0
- 43. Diabetes Death Rates Among Youths Aged ≤19 Years— United States, 1968–2009. *JAMA*. 2012;308(24):2558. doi:10.1001/jama.2012.91503
- 44. Amin B, Yeduri R, Tumin D, Buckman C, Bell JJ. Insurance coverage and health care use among children with diabetes. *Pediatr Diabetes*. 2021;22(4):605-609. doi:10.1111/pedi.13192
- 45. Stanek KR, Noser AE, Patton SR, Clements MA, Youngkin EM, Majidi S. Stressful life events, parental psychosocial factors, and glycemic management in school-aged children during the 1 year follow-up of new-onset type 1 diabetes. *Pediatr Diabetes*. 2020;21(4):673-680. doi:10.1111/pedi.13012
- Fortin K, Pries E, Kwon S. Missed Medical Appointments and Disease Control in Children With Type 1 Diabetes. *J Pediatr Health Care*. 2016;30(4):381-389. doi:10.1016/j.pedhc.2015.09.012

- 47. Hershey JA, Morone J, Lipman TH, Hawkes CP. Social Determinants of Health, Goals and Outcomes in High-Risk Children With Type 1 Diabetes. *Can J Diabetes*. 2021;45(5):444-450.e1. doi:10.1016/j.jcjd.2021.02.005
- 48. Zuijdwijk CS, Cuerden M, Mahmud FH. Social Determinants of Health on Glycemic Control in Pediatric Type 1 Diabetes. *J Pediatr*. 2013;162(4):730-735. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2012.12.010
- Nakhla M, Rahme E, Simard M, Guttmann A. Outcomes associated with a pediatric clinical diabetes network in Ontario: a population-based time-trend analysis. *CMAJ Open*. 2017;5(3):E586-E593. doi:10.9778/cmajo.20170022
- 50. Houle J, Lauzier-Jobin F, Beaulieu MD, et al. Socioeconomic status and glycemic control in adult patients with type 2 diabetes: a mediation analysis. *BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care*. 2016;4(1). doi:10.1136/bmjdrc-2015-000184
- Brazeau AS, Nakhla M, Wright M, et al. Stigma and Its Association With Glycemic Control and Hypoglycemia in Adolescents and Young Adults With Type 1 Diabetes: Cross-Sectional Study. *J Med Internet Res.* 2018;20(4):e151. doi:10.2196/jmir.9432
- 52. Hilliard ME, Herzer M, Dolan LM, Hood KK. Psychological screening in adolescents with type 1 diabetes predicts outcomes one year later. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract*. 2011;94(1):39-44. doi:10.1016/j.diabres.2011.05.027
- 53. Bernstein CM, Stockwell MS, Gallagher MP, Rosenthal SL, Soren K. Mental Health Issues in Adolescents and Young Adults With Type 1 Diabetes: Prevalence and Impact on Glycemic Control. *Clin Pediatr (Phila)*. 2013;52(1):10-15. doi:10.1177/0009922812459950
- Robinson ME, Simard M, Larocque I, Shah J, Nakhla M, Rahme E. Risk of Psychiatric Disorders and Suicide Attempts in Emerging Adults With Diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2020;43(2):484-486. doi:10.2337/dc19-1487
- 55. Khanolkar AR, Amin R, Taylor-Robinson D, Viner RM, Warner JT, Stephenson T. Young people with Type 1 diabetes of non-white ethnicity and lower socio-economic status have poorer glycaemic control in England and Wales. *Diabet Med.* 2016;33(11):1508-1515. doi:10.1111/dme.13079
- 56. Snyder LL, Stafford JM, Dabelea D, et al. Socio-economic, demographic, and clinical correlates of poor glycaemic control within insulin regimens among children with Type 1 diabetes: the SEARCH for Diabetes in Youth Study. *Diabet Med.* 2019;36(8):1028-1036. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/dme.13983
- 57. Majidi S, Wadwa RP, Bishop FK, et al. The effect of insurance status and parental education on glycemic control and cardiovascular disease risk profile in youth with Type 1 Diabetes. *J Diabetes Metab Disord*. 2014;13:59. doi:10.1186/2251-6581-13-59
- 58. Apperley LJ, Ng SM. Socioeconomic Deprivation, Household Education, and Employment are Associated With Increased Hospital Admissions and Poor Glycemic Control in Children

With Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus. *Rev Diabet Stud RDS*. 2017;14(2-3):295-300. doi:10.1900/RDS.2017.14.295

- 59. Delagrange M, Dalla-Vale F, Salet R, et al. Impact of deprivation on glycaemic control in youth with type 1 diabetes in the southwestern region of France. *Pediatr Diabetes*. 2021;22(5):796-806. doi:10.1111/pedi.13156
- Deladoëy J, Henderson M, Geoffroy L. Linear Association Between Household Income and Metabolic Control in Children With Insulin-Dependent Diabetes Mellitus Despite Free Access to Health Care. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*. 2013;98(5):E882-E885. doi:10.1210/jc.2013-1212
- 61. Khanolkar AR, Amin R, Taylor-Robinson D, et al. Ethnic differences in early glycemic control in childhood-onset type 1 diabetes. *BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care*. 2017;5(1):e000423. doi:10.1136/bmjdrc-2017-000423
- 62. Lipman TH, Smith JA, Patil O, Willi SM, Hawkes CP. Racial disparities in treatment and outcomes of children with type 1 diabetes. *Pediatr Diabetes*. 2021;22(2):241-248. doi:10.1111/pedi.13139
- 63. Willi SM, Miller KM, DiMeglio LA, et al. Racial-Ethnic Disparities in Management and Outcomes Among Children With Type 1 Diabetes. *Pediatrics*. 2015;135(3):424-434. doi:10.1542/peds.2014-1774
- 64. Nestel S. Colour coded health care: The impact of race and racism on Canadians' health | National Collaborating Centre for Determinants of Health. Published 2012. Accessed November 27, 2021. https://nccdh.ca/resources/entry/colour-coded-health-care
- 65. Lipman TH, Hawkes CP. Racial and Socioeconomic Disparities in Pediatric Type 1 Diabetes: Time for a Paradigm Shift in Approach. *Diabetes Care*. 2021;44(1):14-16. doi:10.2337/dci20-0048
- 66. Senniappan S, Hine P, Tang W, et al. The effect of socioeconomic deprivation on efficacy of continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion: a retrospective paediatric case-controlled survey. *Eur J Pediatr*. 2012;171(1):59-65. doi:10.1007/s00431-011-1482-x
- 67. Phan TL, Hossain J, Lawless S, Werk LN. Quarterly Visits With Glycated Hemoglobin Monitoring: The Sweet Spot for Glycemic Control in Youth With Type 1 Diabetes. *Diabetes Care*. 2014;37(2):341-345. doi:10.2337/dc13-0980
- 68. Lipsombe L, Booth G, Butalia S, Dasgupta K, et al. *Diabetes Canada 2018 Clinical Practice Guidelines for the Prevention and Management of Diabetes in Canada:* Pharmacologic Glycemic Management of Type 2 Diabetes in Adults. Can J Diabetes 2018;42(Suppl 1):S88-S103.
- 69. Gamache P, Hamel D, Blaser C, Gamache P, Institut national de santé publique du Québec, Bureau d'information et d'études en santé des populations. *Material and Social Deprivation*

Index: A Summary : Overview of the Methodology.; 2020. Accessed September 21, 2021. http://collections.banq.qc.ca/ark:/52327/4047517

- 70. Pampalon R, Hamel D, Gamache P, Philibert MD, Raymond G, Simpson A. Un indice régional de défavorisation matérielle et sociale pour la santé publique au Québec et au Canada. *Can J Public Health*. 2012;103(2):S17-S22. doi:10.1007/BF03403824
- Nakhla M, Rahme E, Simard M, Larocque I, Legault L, Li P. Risk of ketoacidosis in children at the time of diabetes mellitus diagnosis by primary caregiver status: a populationbased retrospective cohort study. *CMAJ Can Med Assoc J*. 2018;190(14):E416-E421. doi:10.1503/cmaj.170676
- 72. Government of Canada SC. Canadian Index of Multiple Deprivation: Dataset. Published June 12, 2019. Accessed May 26, 2021. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/45-20-0001/452000012019002-eng.htm
- 73. Matheson FI, Dunn JR, Smith KLW, Moineddin R, Glazier RH. Development of the Canadian Marginalization Index: a new tool for the study of inequality. *Can J Public Health Rev Can Sante Publique*. 2012;103(8 Suppl 2):S12-16.
- Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JBW. The Patient Health Questionnaire-2: validity of a two-item depression screener. *Med Care*. 2003;41(11):1284-1292. doi:10.1097/01.MLR.0000093487.78664.3C
- 75. Government of Canada SC. Census 2A-L 2016. Published April 11, 2016. Accessed March 8, 2022. https://www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb/p3Instr.pl?Function=assembleInstr&a=1&&lang=en&Ite m_Id=295122
- 76. Canadian Institute for Health Information. *Proposed Standards for Race-Based and Indigenous Identity Data Collection and Health Reporting in Canada*. Ottawa, ON: CIHI; 2020.
- 77. Government of Canada SC. Visible minority of person. Published September 17, 2021. Accessed February 1, 2022. https://www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb/p3Var.pl?Function=DEC&Id=45152
- 78. Racial discrimination, race and racism (fact sheet) | Ontario Human Rights Commission. Accessed January 28, 2022. https://www.ohrc.on.ca/en/racial-discrimination-race-and-racism-fact-sheet
- Redondo MJ, Libman I, Maahs DM, et al. The Evolution of Hemoglobin A1c Targets for Youth With Type 1 Diabetes: Rationale and Supporting Evidence. *Diabetes Care*. 2021;44(2):301-312. doi:10.2337/dc20-1978
- 80. Jacobson AM, Hauser ST, Willett J, Wolfsdorf JI, Herman L. Consequences of irregular versus continuous medical follow-up in children and adolescents with insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *J Pediatr*. 1997;131(5):727-733. doi:10.1016/s0022-3476(97)70101-x

- 81. Urbach SL, LaFranchi S, Lambert L, Lapidus JA, Daneman D, Becker TM. Predictors of glucose control in children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Pediatr Diabetes*. 2005;6(2):69-74. doi:10.1111/j.1399-543X.2005.00104.x
- Walker AF, Schatz DA, Johnson C, Silverstein JH, Rohrs HJ. Disparities in Social Support Systems for Youths With Type 1 Diabetes. *Clin Diabetes Publ Am Diabetes Assoc*. 2015;33(2):62-69. doi:10.2337/diaclin.33.2.62
- 83. Hassan K, Loar R, Anderson BJ, Heptulla RA. The role of socioeconomic status, depression, quality of life, and glycemic control in type 1 diabetes mellitus. *J Pediatr*. 2006;149(4):526-531. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2006.05.039
- Hawkes CP, Lipman TH. Racial Disparities in Pediatric Type 1 Diabetes: Yet Another Consequence of Structural Racism. *Pediatrics*. 2021;148(2). doi:10.1542/peds.2021-050333
- 85. George MA, Bassani C. Does Living in a Neighbourhood With Others of the Same Ethnic Background Contribute to Health of Canada's Immigrant Children? *Can J Public Health Rev Can Santé Publique*. 2013;104(7):e482-e486. doi:10.17269/cjph.104.4101
- 86. Uphoff EP, Pickett KE, Crouch S, Small N, Wright J. Is ethnic density associated with health in a context of social disadvantage? Findings from the Born in Bradford cohort. *Ethn Health*. 2016;21(2):196-213. doi:10.1080/13557858.2015.1047742
- 87. George MA, Bassani C. The health of immigrant children who live in areas with high immigrant concentration. *Ethn Health*. 2016;21(5):426-438. doi:10.1080/13557858.2015.1066762
- Shaw RJ, Pickett KE. The association between ethnic density and poor self-rated health among US Black and Hispanic people. *Ethn Health*. 2011;16(3):225-244. doi:10.1080/13557858.2011.561428
- 89. van Ingen T, Matheson FI. The 2011 and 2016 iterations of the Ontario Marginalization Index: updates, consistency and a cross-sectional study of health outcome associations. *Can J Public Health.* Published online August 25, 2021. doi:10.17269/s41997-021-00552-1
- 90. Song C, Booth GL, Perkins BA, Weisman A. Impact of government-funded insulin pump programs on insulin pump use in Canada: a cross-sectional study using the National Diabetes Repository. *BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care*. 2021;9(1):e002371. doi:10.1136/bmjdrc-2021-002371
- 91. Lipman TH, Smith JA, Hawkes CP. Community health workers and the care of children with type 1 diabetes. *J Pediatr Nurs Nurs Care Child Fam.* 2019;49:111-112. doi:10.1016/j.pedn.2019.08.014

7 Appendices

Appendix 1: Main population characteristics

Table 1.

Population characteristics of children who were excluded for having a postal code not assigned to DA

	Total = 6
Age (years), mean (SD)	15.2 (2.2)
Sex (male), n (%)	3 (50.0)
Duration of diabetes (years), mean (SD)	7.8 (3.7)
Insulin pump (yes), n (%)	2 (33.3)
# of MD clinic visits over the past 12	3.0 (1.6)
months, mean (SD)	
MD visits ≥ 3 , n (%)	5 (83.3)
HbA1c %, mean (SD)	8.5 (1.0)
$HbA1c \le 7.5, n$ (%)	2 (33.3)

Appendix 2: Selection of subgroups



Figure 1. Flowchart of population selection for subgroup analysis

Appendix 3: Sensitivity analysis

Table 2. Insulin pump use by SES quintile for children who were on the pump for at least 6 months before index visit, and were on the pump for at least 50% of their visits in the year following the index visit (either got on the pump or off the pump)

Total	Q1 + Q2	Q3	Q4 + Q5	p-value
(N=203)	(N=96)	(N=54)	(N=53)	

Insulin	78 (38.4)	41 (42.7)	23 (42.6)	14 (26.4)	0.11
pump					
(yes), <i>n</i> (%)					

Table 3. Multivariable linear regression analysis for the association between SES and HbA1c, adjusted for sex, age, duration of diabetes, processes of care, and insulin pump use for at least 50% of visits

Variables	Estimates	95% CI	p-value
Least deprived – Q1+Q2	Reference	Reference	Reference
Moderately deprived Q3	0.04	-0.42, 0.50	0.86
Most deprived – Q4+Q5	0.51	0.05, 0.98	0.03
Sex (female)	0.09	-0.29, 0.48	0.63
Age	0.03	-0.03, 0.09	0.38
Duration of diabetes	-0.01	-0.07, 0.05	0.74
On pump	-0.47	-0.88, -0.06	0.03
MD visits 3-4	Reference	Reference	Reference
MD visits < 3	-0.23	-0.84, 0.37	0.45
MD visits > 4	0.79	0.07, 1.51	0.03

Table 4. Multivariable linear regression SES and HbA1c – interaction term between SES and insulin pump use for at least 50% of visits

Variables	Estimates	95% CI	p-value
Pump use: NO			
Least deprived – Q1+Q2	Reference	Reference	Reference
Moderately deprived - Q3	0.16	-0.73, 1.04	1.00
Most deprived – Q4+Q5	0.59	-0.23, 1.42	0.31
Pump use: YES			
Least deprived – Q1+Q2	Reference	Reference	Reference
Moderately deprived - Q3	-0.12	-1.15, 0.91	1.00
Most deprived $-Q4+Q5$	0.37	-0.84, 1.58	0.95
MD visits 3-4	Reference	Reference	Reference
MD visits < 3	-0.24	-0.84, 0.37	0.44
MD visits > 4	0.81	0.07, 1.54	0.03
Sex (female)	0.10	-0.29, 0.48	0.62
Age	0.03	-0.03, 0.09	0.37
Duration of diabetes	-0.01	-0.07, 0.05	0.68